UC Berkeley UC Berkeley Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Hierarchical Urban Transit System Design for Reducing Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Societal Costs

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/57h6s16h

Author Cheng, Han

Publication Date 2016

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

Hierarchical Urban Transit System Design for Reducing

Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Societal Costs

By

Han Cheng

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the

requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Engineering - Civil and Environmental Engineering

in the

Graduate Division

of the

University of California, Berkeley

Committee in charge: Professor Samer Madanat, Co-Chair Professor Arpad Horvath, Co-Chair Professor Philip Kaminsky Professor Zuo-Jun Max Shen

Spring 2016

Abstract

Hierarchical Urban Transit System Design for Reducing Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Societal Costs

by

Han Cheng

Doctor of Philosophy in Engineering – Civil and Environmental Engineering University of California, Berkeley Professor Samer Madanat, Co-Chair Professor Arpad Horvath, Co-Chair

Public transit systems with efficient designs and operating plans can reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions relative to low-occupancy transportation modes, but many current transit systems have not been designed to reduce environmental impacts. This motivates the study of the benefits of design and operational approaches for reducing the environmental impacts of transit systems. For example, transit agencies may replace level-of-service (LOS) by vehicle miles traveled (VMT) as a criterion in evaluating design and operational changes. Previous studies have demonstrated in an idealized single-technology transit system the potential of reducing GHG emissions by lowering the transit level-of-service (LOS) provided to the users.

In this dissertation, I extend the analysis to account for a more realistic case: a transit system with a hierarchical structure (trunk and feeder lines) providing service to a city where demand is elastic. By considering the interactions between the trunk and the feeder systems, the study provides a quantitative basis for designing and operating integrated urban transit systems that can reduce GHG emissions and costs to both transit users and agencies. The study shows that highly elastic transit demand may cancel emission reduction potentials resulting from lowering LOS, due to demand shifts to lower occupancy vehicles, causing unintended consequences. However, for mass transit modes, these potentials are still significant. Transit networks with buses, bus rapid transit or light rail as trunk modes should be designed and operated near the cost-optimal point when the demand is highly elastic, while this is not required for metro. I also find that the potential for unintended consequences increases with the size of the city. The results are robust to uncertainties in the costs and emissions parameters.

The study also includes a discussion of a current transit system. Since many current transit systems have not yet been optimally designed, it should be possible to reduce their GHG emissions without sacrificing the LOS. A case study of the MUNI bus system in San Francisco is used to validate this conjecture. The analysis shows that reductions in GHG emissions can be achieved when societal costs are reduced simultaneously. The cost-optimal MUNI bus system has a societal cost of 0.15 billion \$/year and emits 1680 metric tons of greenhouse gases. These

figures only amount to about half of the cost and a third of the emissions in the current MUNI bus system. The optimal system has a lower spatial availability but a higher temporal availability of bus service than the current system, which highlights the potential benefits of providing more frequent express bus services.

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	i
List of Figures	ii
List of Tables	iii
Acknowledgements	iv
Chapter 1 Introduction	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Summary of Findings	2
Chapter 2 Literature Review	4
2.1 Emissions from public transportation	4
2.2 Approaches to reducing public transit emissions	5
2.3 Methods for solving transit network design problems	6
Chapter 3 Hierarchical Transit System Design	8
3.1 Network Design	8
3.2 General Formulation	10
3.2.1 Cost to transit users	12
3.2.2 Cost to transit agencies	13
3.2.3 Transit and auto emissions	14
3.3 Hierarchy, demand elasticity and value of time	15
Chapter 4 Parametric Study	19
4.1 Scenarios, mode attributes, cost and emissions factors	19
4.2 Non-elastic case	21
4.3 Elastic case	25
4.4 Effect of city size on emissions	30
4.5 Sensitivity Analysis	33
Chapter 5 Transit Network Stylization	36
5.1 Network stylization	36
5.1.1 Derivation of the user costs	37
5.1.2 Agency cost and transit emissions	41
5.2 Evaluation of the stylized network	42
Chapter 6 Transit Network Optimization	43
Chapter 7 Conclusion	46
7.1 Results	46
7.2 Limitations and Future Work	47
References	49
Appendix A Expected travel distance in a rectangular city	56
Appendix B Attributes, cost and emission parameters used in the MUNI system analysis	58

List of Figures

Figure 3.1	Hierarchical transit network for this study9
Figure 3.2	System, user, and agency costs for a bus system by GHG emissions level (Griswold
et al. 2	2013)
Figure 4.1	Technology-specific Pareto curves of system costs with varying transit emissions
(scena	rio 1)
Figure 4.2	Technology-specific Pareto curves of system costs with varying transit emissions
(scena	rio 2)
Figure 4.3	Technology-specific Pareto curves of system costs with varying transit emissions
(scena	rio 3)
Figure 4.4	Technology-specific Pareto curves of system costs with varying transit emissions
(scena	rio 4)
Figure 4.5	Change in total emissions with travel time as LOS is reduced for bus with no feeder
access	s (scenario 2)
Figure 4.6	Change in total emissions with travel time as LOS is reduced for bus (scenario 2). 26
Figure 4.7	Change in total emissions with travel time as LOS is reduced for BRT (scenario 2)27
Figure 4.8	Change in total emissions with travel time as LOS is reduced for LRT (scenario 2)27
Figure 4.9	Change in total emissions with travel time as LOS is reduced for metro (scenario 2)
Figure 4.10	Change in total emissions as LOS is reduced for BRT under a city-wide emissions
budge	t (scenario 2)
Figure 4.11	Change in total emissions as LOS is reduced for metro under a city-wide emissions
budge	t (scenario 2)
Figure 4.12	2 Change in total emissions as LOS is reduced for metro (scenario 2)
Figure 4.13	Breakdown of the total emissions of metro ($b = -0.5$)
Figure 4.14	Total emissions of city with varying size
Figure 4.15	5 Sensitivity to changes in parameters for metro, BRT and trunk-only bus (scenario 2) 34
Figure 5.1	San Francisco Muni system
Figure 5.2	The Manhattan distance between two random dots in region S_1 and on edge W_3 39
Figure 6.1	The current state of the MUNI network and the Pareto frontier

List of Tables

Table 4.1	City scenarios with different combinations of sizes and demand densities	. 19
Table 4.2	Trunk-mode-specific model parameters	. 20
Table 4.3	Feeder-mode-specific model parameters	. 21
Table 4.4	Parameter changes for metro trunk in sensitivity analysis	. 34
Table 5.1	Boundary of the studied area	. 37
Table 5.2	Expected Manhattan distances for different demand categories	. 40
Table 5.3	Transit demand (d), out-of-vehicle travel time (OVTT) and in-vehicle travel time	
(IVT	Γ) for different O-D scenarios	. 41
Table 5.4	Values of system attributes reflecting current state	. 42
Table 5.5	Comparison of results obtained by the CA method and real data	. 42
Table 6.1	Attributes for the network on the Pareto Frontier	. 44
Table 6.2	Comparisons between the current state and the cost-optimal state	. 44

Acknowledgements

My co-advisors, Professor Samer Madanat and Professor Arpad Horvath, have given me enormous support during my time at UC Berkeley. Their profound knowledge in transportation research has helped me grow my academic capabilities beyond my imagination. They provide a very open research environment and encourage me to explore different ideas and possibilities. Whenever I feel confused about my research, they are always there to guide me through the darkness and keep me on the right track. It is impossible for me to finish my Ph.D. study without their great help.

My other dissertation committee members, Professor Philip Kaminsky, Professor Zuo-Jun Max Shen, as well as my Ph.D. qualifying exam committee member, Professor Carlos Daganzo, also offered generous contributions to this study. Professor Daganzo's advice during the qualifying exam has directly helped in shaping the case study in this dissertation. Professor Kaminsky and Professor Shen's feedback during the workshop has helped me proceed with my research efficiently and in the correct direction.

I'm also very grateful to my undergraduate advisor at Tsinghua University, Professor Huapu Lu, and my undergraduate summer research advisors, Professor Michael Cassidy, Professor Weihua Gu, and Professor George List. Their guidance and teaching brought me to this amazing research world filled with wonders. Their belief in my abilities gave me confidence and kept me surpassing myself.

There are some colleagues who also provided me with their generous help. I cannot be thankful enough to Dr. Julia Griswold for her tremendous support in answering my countless questions and coding the program. I also really appreciate Dr. Julia Griswold and Dr. Karthik Sivakumaran for their prestigious work in transit networks which considerably inspired this research.

I've enjoyed my time at 116 McLaughlin Hall during the past 3 years, because of the companionship of all the wonderful officemates. They helped me keep motivated, brainstormed interesting ideas, and convinced me to try so many good food. I want to thank all of my friends who have seen ups and downs with me and encouraged me to stay strong: Haoyu Chen, Darren Reger, Jinwoo Lee, Dou-nan Tang, Xiaofei Hu, Haotian Liu, Yi Liu, Timothy Brathwaite, Sreeta Gorripaty, Ziheng Lin, and so many others.

Last but not least, I need to thank my parents. Thank you, Mom and Dad, for always supporting and believing in me, teaching me the true meaning of life.

This research was funded by a UC CONNECT Faculty Research Grant.

Chapter 1 Introduction

1.1 Background

In recent years, public transportation's role in reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions has started to receive increased attention. Compared to private automobiles, studies suggest that public transit systems with high occupancy rates and efficient designs can reduce GHG emissions significantly (Hodges 2009). However, many current transit systems are not designed to reduce environmental impacts. For example, in the United States, the average energy intensity of transit buses is even higher than passenger cars due to the current low ridership rate of urban buses (Davis et al. 2009, Chester and Horvath 2009). There have been many efforts in the transit sector to reducing transit GHG emissions. However, many of them have focused on vehicles and fuel technologies, such as employing efficient replacement vehicles and changing to alternative fuels.

Another potential approach to reducing transit GHG emissions is through lowering the operational frequency and spatial coverage, i.e., the level of service (LOS). Though unconventional and undesirable to captive transit users, it would not be the first time this idea has been explored: the literature contains at least two examples where cities have explored increases in stop spacings to reduce GHG emissions (Shrestha and Zolnik 2013, Saka 2003). Furthermore, intentionally lowering LOS is a possible course of action for cities that are not using LOS requirements for their transportation projects. Policy may also support this, such as the recent example of Californian legislation, Senate Bill 743 (California SB 743 2013), which authorizes cities to opt out of LOS requirements and use other criteria for evaluating impacts of transportation projects. In developing new criteria, SB 743 recommends adopting metrics such as vehicle miles traveled (VMT), which have the potential to reduce GHG emissions.

This line of action has been partially verified by the study for a trunk transit system designed to minimize societal costs while serving a fixed demand density: the reductions in GHG emissions can be achieved by reducing the LOS of the trunk transit system provided to the users (Griswold et al. 2013). However, this might not hold for the more realistic case where transit demand is elastic. With elastic demand, the reductions in the transit LOS, aimed at reducing the transit GHG emissions, may lead to a city-wide increase in the GHG emissions as some transit users may not tolerate the reduction in service and will switch to faster but more polluting modes, such as private automobiles. This would be a problem for cities that plan to take advantage of the flexible metrics allowed by SB 743. Therefore, it is necessary to consider transit demand elasticity before following such a potential action.

Urban transit networks in reality are usually hierarchical, consisting of not only the trunk transit service but also the feeder transit service that serves local demand and trunk access demand. Instead of walking, transit passengers may use feeder modes to access trunk transit. Both SB 743 and California Assembly Bill 1358 (AB 1358) have addressed the need for promoting the

development of a balanced multimodal transportation system to meet the travel needs of all users with different O-D pairs. In order to achieve significant improvement in environmental conditions of a multimodal transportation system, studies suggest that all modes should be considered as parts of an integrated system, and that modifications to one component should consider their effect on the whole system (Rondinelli and Berry, 2000). Sivakumaran et al. (2014) find that capital-intensive and large-capacity transit technologies, such as metro, are economically feasible only when combined with other transit technologies that act as feeders. As a result, it is necessary to integrally study transit systems instead of concentrating on each element separately.

The objective of this research is to examine the potential extent to which an optimally designed urban transit system reduces GHG emissions while considering transit demand elasticity and integrated transit hierarchy. A transit system is optimally designed if it minimizes total societal costs, i.e., the sum of user and agency costs. A transit network is hierarchical when it consists of feeder and trunk modes. Transit users may choose a single or any sequence of different modes to complete their travels based on the locations of their origins and destinations. In this study, a simplified hierarchical grid transit network with uniformly distributed elastic demand is adopted as a theoretical case for testing the model. The hierarchical grid transit network consists of lines for the trunk transit mode and lines for the feeder transit mode. By quantifying the LOS-emissions relationship for an idealized hierarchical transit system, the research will inform policies for cities that plan to take advantage of the flexible metrics allowed by SB 743. Particularly, reductions in GHG emissions at the expense of reducing transit LOS are quantified, highlighting the advantages and potential pitfalls associated with shifting from an LOS-based standard to a VMT criterion in evaluating transit projects or operational changes.

It should also be noted that it is possible for many transit systems to reduce VMT and GHG emissions without reducing transit LOS, because many of them have not been optimally designed to achieve minimum costs. As a result, in the latter part of the research, I extend the previous work to analyze such a transit system, the MUNI bus network for the city of San Francisco. I build a mathematical model of the MUNI bus network to obtain a relatively accurate representation of the current network. The societal costs and emissions of the current MUNI system are quantified. The potentials for emissions reductions and the changes in LOS are then discussed for the MUNI system.

1.2 Summary of Findings

The main findings of this dissertation are:

- In large cities, hierarchical transit systems with mass transit modes (metro, for example) tend to be more cost- and emission-efficient. However, in small cities, trunk-only bus systems may be more favorable with regards to both costs and emissions savings.
- (ii) Transit demand elasticity offsets transit emissions reduction efforts by causing additional automobile emissions due to demand shifting away from transit. Transit

agencies should evaluate the demand elasticity in areas of interest before trying to reduce emissions through lowering transit LOS.

(iii) The process of transit cost minimization may also reduce GHG emissions.

Chapter 2 Literature Review

This literature review consists of three parts. The first part discusses the GHG emissions inventories from public transportation. The second part discusses current approaches to reducing public transit emissions. The third part describes different methodologies for solving transit network design problems.

2.1 Emissions from public transportation

With all the combustion of petroleum-based products, GHG emissions from transportation have accounted for about 28% of total GHG emissions in the United States, making it the second largest contributor after the electricity sector (EPA 2014). This highlights the need to better understand the GHG emissions in transportation. Among all the potential ways to reduce emissions, shifting automobile trips to public transit systems is a common option. However, the GHG emissions from public transit itself are not negligible.

Many studies have attempted to measure the amount of GHG emissions of public transit. Yet most of them have focused on measuring the tailpipe emissions that occur during the vehicle operations phase and are largely dependent on the vehicle-miles-traveled (Small 1988, Faiz 1996, Prucz et al. 2001, Turrio-Baldassarri et al. 2003, Nylund et al. 2004, Wayne et al. 2004 and 2008, Shorter et al. 2005, Vincent et al. 2006, Zhai et al. 2008, Hesterberg et al. 2008, Tong et al. 2011, Lau et al. 2011, Li et al. 2012). Davis and Hale (2007) analyze the GHG emissions inventory of public transit based on the estimations of total passenger-miles-traveled, mode splits of bus and rail, and the carbon-dioxide tailpipe emissions factors of transit vehicles. They find that in 2005, the U.S. public transportation sector emits approximately 13 million metric tons of CO₂. Weigel et al. (2010) present a calculation tool for estimating the emissions for a complete vehicle operations phase, considering tailpipe exhaust emissions along with other affiliated sources such as fugitive refrigerant emissions.

In a wider scope, transit emissions do not only occur during the vehicle operations phase. Some studies assess the transit emissions over the life cycle of fuel consumption (Sheehan 1998, Beer et al. 2002, Brinkman et al. 2005, Puchalsky 2005, Karman 2006, Clark et al. 2007), which may include fuel production, transportation, storage, distribution, and finally combustion. The emissions from these sources are also called wells-to-wheels emissions. Puchalsky (2005) compares the partial fuel-cycle emissions of Light Rail Transit (LRT) and Bus Rapid Transit (BRT), considering both fuel delivery and fuel combustion. Karman (2006) presents a case study of Beijing, measuring the GHG emissions of compressed natural gas (CNG) buses and conventional diesel buses. The analysis defines factors of fuel-based life-cycle emissions that account for both tailpipe emissions and the emissions from all the upstream stages of fuel consumption.

Furthermore, when evaluating a transit system as a whole, the process of manufacturing and repairing transit vehicles, constructing and maintaining the transit infrastructure creates GHG

emissions as well. Life-cycle emissions from entire transit systems have not been commonly addressed in the literature. What is available includes: Ally and Pryor (2007) analyze the GHG emissions of diesel, natural gas and hydrogen fuel cell bus systems, introducing both the fuelcycle emissions and the emissions from bus manufacturing. Cui et al. (2010) present a case study of the BRT system in Xiamen, China. They assess the carbon footprint of Xiamen BRT system on a wider scope that includes vehicle and infrastructure production, maintenance, recycling. Chester and Horvath (2009) and Chester (2008) employ a hybrid life-cycle-assessment model to provide a generalized analysis on the emissions inventory of various transit technologies by considering four emissions sources: fuel production, infrastructure, vehicle operation and vehicle non-operation. The emissions estimation results from Chester and Horvath (2009) and Chester (2008) will be used in this work.

2.2 Approaches to reducing public transit emissions

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) has suggested using alternative fuels that are less carbon-intensive, improving fuel-efficiency of vehicles, and more compact land-use patterns to reduce passenger-miles-traveled as efforts to mitigate GHG emissions (EPA 2014). There have been many real-world examples corresponding to these categories; mainly as use of alternative fuels such as biodiesel, CNG, LPG and hybrid; retrofitting existing engines or purchasing more fuel-efficient engines; cities that employ transit-oriented development.

Most investments in the transit sector to address GHG emissions have focused on purchasing efficient replacement vehicles and encouraging mode shifts from private automobile by increasing transit LOS (Gallivan and Grant 2010). Those approaches can be expensive. Meanwhile, simply increasing the transit service level, aimed at attracting drivers to the transit systems, can sometimes backfire, causing a net increase in GHG emissions (Griswold et al. 2014). Public transit systems that operate with low ridership rates have been shown to have higher per-passenger-kilometer emissions than the automobile (Davis et al. 2009, Chester and Horvath 2009, Taptich and Horvath 2014). Evaluating the effect of transit system design and operational modifications on GHG emissions is essential.

There have been important studies done in this area, but some questions still remain. Saka (2003) concludes that bus stops impede the flow of traffic, which depending on the traffic intensity can result in congestion and excessive emissions on the bus route. Shrestha and Zolnik (2013) provide a case study of the bus service for the city of Fairfax, Virginia, and find that eliminating some bus stops could improve travel time and reduce operating costs. Bus-related emissions could also be substantially lower after the elimination of the bus stops. Alam and Hatzopoulou (2014) present possible approaches to reducing transit bus emissions on a busy corridor: using alternative fuels or improving traffic operations. They find that improving traffic operations alone, such as applying transit signal priority (TSP) and relocation of bus stops, could significantly reduce GHG emissions.

Beside the redistribution of transit stations, there are other network design and operational modifications that have not been commonly considered, such as improving schedule, changing

route spacing, and choosing the best transit technology for the city characteristics. Griswold et al. (2013) provide a thorough investigation of the relation between costs and GHG emissions in transit systems while considering a broad range of potential transit system design and operational modifications. They demonstrate that, for a trunk-only, grid-network transit system designed to minimize societal costs while serving a fixed demand elasticity, a city can achieve reductions in GHG emissions by reducing the transit LOS provided to the users. However, this result might not hold for the more realistic case where transit demand is elastic. The reductions in the transit LOS, aimed at reducing the transit GHG emissions, may lead to a city-wide increase in the emissions as users shift to more polluting modes such as private automobiles. Moreover, Griswold et al. (2013) used a simple trunk system without network hierarchy in their model, which limits the realism of their results. Sivakumaran et al. (2014) suggest that capital-intensive and large-capacity transit technologies, such as metro, are economically feasible only when combined with other transit technologies that act as feeders. A metro system is usually designed with large stop and route spacings. With walking assumed to be the only access mode to the transit system, the trunk-only model utilized in Griswold et al. (2013) may unfairly place metro at a comparative disadvantage. In order to make mode comparisons realistic, it is necessary to incorporate feeder transit modes and to investigate how it affects the comparisons between different trunk transit modes.

2.3 Methods for solving transit network design problems

There have been several studies on optimizing transit system design with respect to minimizing agency and user costs, yet the environmental impacts are rarely addressed (Dessouky et al. 2003; Saka 2003; Diana et al. 2007; Griswold et al. 2013 and 2014). Continuum approximation (CA) methods are widely employed to optimize network attributes such as stop spacing (Kuah and Perl 1988; Parajuli and Wirasinghe 2001) and headway (Chien et al. 2010). Some other studies analyze the structure of transit networks using CA methods, such as grids, radial networks (Byrne 1975; Tirachini et al. 2010), and hub-and-spoke networks (Newell 1979). Based on a grid network, Sivakumaran et al. (2014) use CA methods to quantify the cost-effectiveness of providing bus access to different trunk technologies. While CA methods use stylized transit network types and simplifying approximations, they are able to provide closed-form solutions and allow the identification of cause-and-effect relationship between inputs and design outputs (Daganzo 2010). Furthermore, the results can be implemented by adjusting the optimal design values to existing street networks with minor loss in optimality, as the recent design of the Barcelona high performance bus system has shown (Estrada et al. 2011).

Some studies use heuristic methods instead to solve transit network design problems. Most of them address the complex, non-stylized networks of real cities where it is usually impractical to obtain analytical optimal solutions. With increasing computational capacity of computers in recent decades, meta-heuristic methods such as Genetic Algorithm and Tabu Search and Simulated Annealing are used to find efficient transit routes on existing street networks and efficient timetables for operating transit vehicles (Pattnaik et al. 1998; Yang et al. 1999;

Chakroborty 2003; Fan et al. 2009 and 2010). However, these methods can still be computationally expensive while providing few general insights into the cause-and-effect relationship between inputs and design outputs.

This research will employ CA methods to optimize a hierarchical grid transit network for two objectives: societal costs (the sum of agency and user costs) and GHG emissions.

Chapter 3 Hierarchical Transit System Design

3.1 Network Design

We consider a simplified hierarchical grid transit network. Transit users may choose to use a single or any sequence of transit modes to complete their travels based on the locations of their origins and destinations. The hierarchical grid transit network design is based on the work of Sivakumaran et al. (2014) with the following features:

(1) The hierarchy consists of two levels: the trunk grid framework that outlines the macroscopic shape of the network, and the branch system (also called the feeder system) located within the blocks that are defined by the trunk grid.

(2) Each level of hierarchy has one transit mode. The mode for the trunk system has large capacity, high cruising speed, intensive capital investment, and is designed for long-distance service. The mode for the branch system is slower, cheaper, and mainly for local service and meeting demand to and from the nearest trunk transit stop.

(3) The stops for the trunk network are evenly distributed along the trunk lines, and the route spacing is a multiple of the stop spacing so that we are able to locate a transit stop at each intersection of the trunk lines. Similarly, the stops for the branch network are also evenly distributed along the branch lines. However, the branch network is assumed to be comprised of parallel routes rather than grids so that there are no intersections within each branch system. It is also assumed that all the trunk stops experience the same headway of the trunk transit (H), while all the feeder stops experience the same headway of the feeder transit (h).

(4) The feeder system provides feeder service to the nearest trunk transit stop. Therefore, we can generalize the branch system by picking out a rectangular zone where all branch lines are located in the same trunk grid block and direct to the same trunk stop. The zone is called "sub-block" so as to distinguish this from the trunk grid block.

(5) The demand for transit service is evenly distributed in the entire rectangular area. Every hour in each unit of area there is a certain amount of transit demand generated, defined as transit demand density (ρ). For each transit user, feeder transit and/or trunk transit may be used based on the locations of the user's origin and destination.

The simplified hierarchical grid transit network is shown in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1 Hierarchical transit network for this study

Where:

- W, L Width and length of the transit network.
- r_W , r_L Route spacing for trunk lines.
- *s* Stop spacing for trunk transit stops.
- r_f Route spacing for feeder lines.
- s_f Stop spacing for feeder transit stops.

The Continuum Approximation (CA) methods are employed to optimize the described hierarchical transit network for two objectives: GHG emissions and societal costs. Demand elasticities are used to predict the impacts of transit service changes. Different trunk line technologies are considered, including heavy rail (metro), light rail transit (LRT), bus rapid transit (BRT), and bus. The feeder systems are operated using the feeder buses and assumed to be accessed by walking.

On average, users in the hierarchical transit system will complete their travels by following the principles below:

(1) If the distance between the origin and the destination is short (lower than a criteria defined as the walk-able distance), the user will complete the travel solely by walking. This is called the "walk" travel.

(2) If the distance between the origin and the destination is larger than the walk-able distance, yet the origin and the destination are still located within the same sub-block, the user will walk to the nearest branch transit stop, take the branch transit within the sub-block, get off at the stop nearest to the destination, and then walk to the destination. This is called the "walk – branch – walk" travel.

(3) If the distance is even longer such that the origin and the destination are located in two different sub-blocks, the user will walk to the nearest branch transit stop and take the branch transit to access the trunk transit, then take the trunk transit to access the branch transit of the sub-block the destination locates in, and finally access the destination by taking that branch transit and walking. This is called the "walk – branch – trunk – branch – walk" travel.

There are some cases where the above principles may appear redundant. For example, when the origin and the destination are located in two adjacent sub-blocks, the user might be better off skipping the trunk transit and completing the travel simply by taking two adjacent branch transit combined with necessary walking access. However, involving these details may significantly increase the complexity of the model without getting much better insights (Sivakumaran et al. 2014). Hence I assume that all the users follow the principles described above.

It should also be noted that the hierarchical network may not be ideal for slow, low-capacity trunk transit technologies, such as buses. A bus system is usually designed with small stop and route spacings. For cities with small geometric sizes, the average travel distances are short. Incorporating a feeder system may cause unnecessary intra-modal transfer times and feeder emissions, and thus a bus system without feeder access might be a better option. However, for large cities, adopting trunk-only bus systems may not be feasible due to limited bus capacity. To verify these conjectures, I also consider trunk-only bus systems for comparison with the hierarchical systems described above.

3.2 General Formulation

The formulation of the problem builds on the work of Sivakumaran et al. (2014) and Griswold et al. (2013). The mathematical formulation consists of optimizing the transit system design to achieve the lowest total costs and transit emissions possible. The problem can be formulated as a constrained optimization (3.1). The objective is to solve for the values of the decision variables that minimize the societal costs subject to a transit emissions constraint. Another constraint comes from the capacity of the transit mode. Decision variables include headways, stop spacings, and route spacings for the trunk and feeder systems: H, h, s, s_f , r_W , r_L , r_f . The cost and emission terms in (3.1) are functions of these decision variables.

min
$$C_{total} = C_{user} + C_{agency}$$

s.t. $E_{emissions,T} \le E$ (3.1)

 $Load \leq Kap$

Where:

 C_{total} – Total societal cost.

 C_{user} – Cost to the transit users.

 C_{agency} – Cost to the transit agencies.

 $E_{emissions,T}$ – GHG emissions of transit system

E – Budget of greenhouse gas emissions

Load, Kap - Transit load and capacity

Solving the constrained optimization problem in (3.1) provides a set of optimal system attributes $(H, h, s, s_f, r_W, r_L, r_f)$ for given emissions goals. By varying the emissions constraint *E*, we are able to display the set of optimal solutions by drawing a Pareto frontier of *E* and C_{total} .



Figure 3.2 Total (system), user, and agency costs for a bus system by GHG emissions level (Griswold et al. 2013)

The Pareto optimality indicates the state where it is impossible to make the costs better off without making the emissions worse off, or vice versa (Griswold et al. 2013). For example, Figure 3.2 shows the optimal societal cost curve for a trunk-only bus system as the GHG emissions constraint varies. The vertical bar at the right of the curve marks the system cost-optimal point, beyond which relaxing *E* would not produce lower C_{total} . The other end of the curve would be the emission-optimal point, which means if the constraint *E* is reinforced further, there would be no feasible solutions for the model.

The Pareto frontiers of E and C_{total} can be used to inform transit system design. We are able to quantify, for an efficiently designed transit system, the potential increase in total cost as a

consequence of saving transit emissions. Furthermore, the slope of a tangent on the Pareto curve is the shadow price of the emissions constraint, i.e., the marginal societal cost of reducing emissions by an additional unit. If the carbon price in the market is known, the corresponding point on the Pareto curve can be found where the shadow price is equal to the carbon price. This point may refer to the ideal state that the transit agency wants to achieve because operating the transit system at this point would maximize social surplus, according to economic theory.

The other two curves in Figure 3.2 are obtained by calculating the corresponding user cost C_{user} and agency cost C_{agency} for each optimal C_{total} . The agency costs C_{agency} decrease when emissions are constrained because emissions reductions are caused by reductions in transit LOS, including reduction in bus frequency; as a result, transit VMT is reduced. The user costs C_{user} increase when emissions are constrained because the reductions in the transit LOS, aimed at reducing the transit emissions, increase the average transit travel time.

Since the transit demand is elastic, one would also expect that the reductions in the transit LOS have the potential of causing additional emissions of other modes due to the transit demand shifts, leading to unintended emissions consequences. I will examine how the city-wide GHG emissions are affected by the changes in demand due to the reductions in the transit LOS. By incorporating travel time elasticities into the model formulation, one can estimate the fraction of users who will switch to a faster mode, typically the automobile. The specific descriptions can be found in Section 3.3.

3.2.1 Cost to transit users

The cost to transit users is measured by monetized average travel time. We first analyze the components of the average travel time for a transit user by employing CA methods, and then obtain the total travel time for all the transit users per time unit by multiplying the transit demand. The average travel time for a transit user is:

$$T_{average} = \frac{r_f}{v_a} + h_f + (0.5r_L + 0.5r_W + s)\frac{1}{2v_f} + (0.5r_L + 0.5r_W)\frac{\tau_f}{2s_f} + H + T + 2T_{intra} + (L + W)\left(\frac{1}{3v_t} + \frac{\tau}{3s}\right)$$
(3.2)

Where:

 r_f – Route spacing for feeder lines (km)

 r_W , r_L – Route spacing for trunk lines (km)

- W, L Width and length of the transit network (km)
- s Stop spacing for trunk transit stops (km)
- s_f Stop spacing for feeder transit stops (km)

 v_a – Speed of walking (km/h)

 v_f – Cruising speed of feeder transit (km/h)

 v_t – Cruising speed of trunk transit (km/h)

 h_f – Headway of feeder transit (min)

H – Headway of trunk transit (s)

T – Average transfer time within trunk transit (s)

 T_{intra} – Average transfer time between trunk transit and feeder transit (s)

 τ_f – Average dwelling time at each feeder transit stop (s)

 τ – Average dwelling time at each trunk transit stop (s)

The terms are explained as below:

 $\frac{r_f}{v_a} + h_f$ – Time spent for walking to and waiting for the feeder transit

 $(0.5r_L + 0.5r_W + s)\frac{1}{2v_f}$ - Feeder transit cruising time

 $(0.5r_L + 0.5r_W)\frac{\tau_f}{2r_f}$ – Feeder transit dwelling time

 $H + T + 2T_{intra}$ – Average waiting and transfer time

 $(L+W)\left(\frac{1}{3v_t}+\frac{\tau}{3s}\right)$ – Trunk transit cruising and dwelling time

The cost to all the transit users is obtained by multiplying $T_{average}$ with the transit demand and the value of time as below:

$$C_{user} = T_{average} \,\mu\rho LW \tag{3.3}$$

 μ – Value of time to transit users (\$/h)

 ρ – Transit demand density (pax/km²-h)

3.2.2 Cost to transit agencies

The cost to transit agencies results from construction and maintenance of transit infrastructure, vehicle purchase and maintenance, fuel purchase and labor employment. Griswold et al. (2013) employed cost factors that averaged these cost terms with appropriate units. For example, the cost of vehicle purchase and maintenance, and fuel purchase are grouped together and averaged for each vehicle kilometer traveled, forming a cost factor C_V (\$/veh-km). The labor cost is averaged on a time basis, forming a cost factor C_M (\$/veh-km), because it relates closely to how long employees work. In this study, we adopt the same methodology to obtain cost factors for both the trunk transit and the feeder transit.

We quantify the cost to transit agencies by analyzing the trunk transit and the feeder transit individually, and then summing them together as in (3.4):

$$C_{agency} = C_{agency,Trunk} + C_{agency,Feeder}$$
(3.4)

The cost of the trunk transit is obtained from Griswold et al. (2013) as below:

$$C_{agency,Trunk} = \frac{LW}{s} \left(\frac{1}{p_W} + \frac{1}{p_L} \right) C_I + \frac{2LW}{sH} \left(\frac{1}{p_W} + \frac{1}{p_L} \right) C_V + \frac{2LW}{sH} \left(\frac{1}{p_W} + \frac{1}{p_L} \right) \left(\frac{1}{v} + \frac{\tau}{s} \right) C_M + \frac{LW}{s^2} \left(\frac{1}{p_W} + \frac{1}{p_L} \right) C_S$$
(3.5)

 C_I – ROW infrastructure cost (\$/km-h)

 C_V – Vehicle purchase, fuel & maintenance cost (\$/veh-km)

 C_M – Labor cost (\$/veh-h)

 C_S – Station construction cost (\$/st-h)

The cost of the feeder transit is defined as below:

$$C_{agency,Feeder} = \frac{2LW}{r_f^2} C_{S,f} + \frac{LW}{r_f h_f} \left(4 + \frac{1}{p_W} + \frac{1}{p_L} \right) C_{V,f} + \frac{LW}{v_f r_f h_f} \left(4 + \frac{1}{p_W} + \frac{1}{p_L} \right) C_{M,f} + \frac{4LW \tau_f}{h_f r_f^2} C_{M,f}$$
(3.6)

 $C_{I,f}$ – ROW infrastructure cost for feeder (\$/km-h)

 $C_{V,f}$ – Feeder purchase, fuel & maintenance cost (\$/veh-km)

 $C_{M,f}$ – Feeder labor cost (\$/veh-h)

 $C_{S,f}$ – Feeder station construction cost (\$/st-h)

3.2.3 Transit and auto emissions

Transit life cycle emissions result from construction and maintenance of transit infrastructure, vehicle manufacture, operation and maintenance. Similarly to the transit agency costs, these emissions terms are also averaged with appropriate units.

We model the emissions of the trunk transit and the feeder transit individually, and then sum them together to formulate the total emissions of the transit system as in (3.7):

$$E_{emissions,T} = E_{emissions,Trunk} + E_{emissions,Feeder}$$
(3.7)

The emissions of the trunk transit are obtained from Griswold et al. (2013) as below:

$$E_{emissions,Trunk} = \frac{LW}{s} \left(\frac{1}{p_W} + \frac{1}{p_L} \right) E_I + \frac{2LW}{sH} \left(\frac{1}{p_W} + \frac{1}{p_L} \right) E_V + \frac{LW}{s^2} \left(\frac{1}{p_W} + \frac{1}{p_L} \right) E_S \quad (3.8)$$

 E_I – ROW infrastructure emissions (g/km-h)

 E_V – Vehicle fleet manufacturing, operation & maintenance emissions (g/veh-km)

 E_S – Station construction emissions (g/st-h)

The emissions of the feeder transit are defined as below:

$$E_{emissions,feeder} = \frac{2LW}{r_f^2} E_{S,f} + \frac{LW}{r_f h_f} \left(4 + \frac{1}{p_W} + \frac{1}{p_L} \right) E_{V,f}$$
(3.9)

 $E_{I,f}$ – ROW infrastructure emissions for feeder (g/km-h)

 $E_{V,f}$ – Feeder fleet manufacturing, operation & maintenance emissions (g/veh-km)

 $E_{S,f}$ – Feeder station construction emissions (g/st-h)

Since transit demand is elastic, the mode shift from transit to automobile may incur auto emissions $E_{emissions,auto}$, in addition to the regular emissions of autos. The formula of $E_{emissions,auto}$ is taken from Griswold et al. (2014):

$$E_{emissions,auto} = \frac{L+W}{3} E_A D_A \tag{3.10}$$

 E_A is the emissions parameter for automobile travel in units of GHG emissions per kilometer. D_A is the demand for auto travel in units of passengers per hour.

3.3 Hierarchy, demand elasticity and value of time

In this study, the transit demand is flexible in regard to three aspects:

(1) Demand shift between transit and automobile

(2) Demand split between transit and walking

(3) Demand split within the transit system: between trunk transit and feeder transit

The first aspect has been addressed in Griswold et al. (2014) for a trunk-only system by incorporating consumer surplus, and the third aspect has been addressed in Sivakumaran et al. (2014) by assuming a critical travel distance. I combine these two aspects of demand flexibility together and add the second aspect by assuming a critical walk-able distance.

The values of time differ for in-vehicle and out-of-vehicle travel times (Caltrans 2014). So it is necessary to monetize transit users' in- and out-of-vehicle travel time separately.

The Cobb-Douglas function is used to represent the demand for transit: $Q = aT_{average}^{b}$, where *a* is a constant, $T_{average}$ is defined in Section 3.2.1, and *b* is the travel time elasticity for the Cobb-Douglas function. Since there is a different cost associated with in- versus out-of-vehicle travel time, I replace $T_{average}$ with a generalized cost (*m*):

$$m = \mu_{in}t_{in} + \mu_{out}t_{out}$$
(3.11)
$$Q = a'm^b$$

 t_{in} and t_{out} are in- and out of vehicle travel times for a transit user:

$$t_{in} = (0.5r_L + 0.5r_W + s)\frac{1}{2v_f} + (0.5r_L + 0.5r_W)\frac{\tau_f}{2s_f} + (L+W)\left(\frac{1}{3v_t} + \frac{\tau}{3s}\right) \quad (3.12)$$
$$t_{out} = \frac{r_f}{v_a} + h_f + H + T + 2T_{intra}$$

In order to convert C_{user} to unit of \$/time, I set the constant a' to be the transit demand density ρ .

The consumer surplus should be used when accounting for demand elasticity between transit and automobile (Daganzo, 2012). The updated definition of the cost to transit users and the consumer surplus are obtained from Griswold et al. (2014):

$$C_{user} = -consumer \ surplus \times LW \tag{3.13}$$

$$consumer \ surplus = \begin{cases} -\rho m_o \ln\left(\frac{m}{m_o}\right) + const & for \ b = -1 \\ \\ -\frac{\rho m_o\left(\frac{m}{m_o}\right)^{b+1}}{b+1} + const & otherwise \end{cases}$$
(3.14)

By adopting this new definition of C_{user} while keeping the rest of the terms in (3.1) unchanged, we are able to consider the demand shift between transit and automobile.

In order to consider the demand shift between transit and walking, and the demand shift between trunk transit and feeder transit, one could also define consumer surpluses as above and incorporate them in the model. However, this would significantly increase the complexity of the problem. Furthermore, studies suggest that the mode choice between transit and automobile is most significantly affected by transit travel time (other than factors such as transit fares), whereas the mode choice between walking and motorized modes (including transit) is most significantly affected by whether the trip is short enough to be walk-able (other than factors such as motorized travel time) (Frank et al. 2008, TRACE 1999). As a result, I assume that the demand split between transit and walking is determined by a critical walk-able distance, d_0 .

Similarly, the demand split within the transit system (between the trunk transit and the feeder transit) is also addressed by using a critical travel distance (Sivakumaran et al. 2014), d_c .

It is reasonable to assume that $d_0 < d_c < L + W$.

Since the demand is assumed to be evenly distributed, the trip distance Z is a random variable. I define the portion of transit users that decide to only walk as P_w , the portion of transit users that decide to only use feeder system as P_f , and the portion of transit users that decide to use both feeder and trunk systems as P_t . According to the mode-choice principles defined in Section 3.1 and the discussions above, we have:

$$P_{w} + P_{f} + P_{t} = 1$$

$$P_{w} = \Pr \left(Z \le d_{0} \right)$$

$$P_{f} = \Pr \left(d_{0} < Z \le d_{c} \right)$$

$$P_{t} = \Pr \left(Z > d_{c} \right)$$
(3.15)

I define the expected travel distance as below:

$$d_w = \mathbb{E} \left(Z | Z \le d_0 \right)$$

$$d_f = \mathbb{E} \left(Z | d_0 < Z \le d_c \right)$$
(3.16)

$$d_t = \mathbb{E}\left(Z|Z > d_c\right)$$

The formula for calculating the expected travel distance is derived and described in Appendix A. The definition of m is then updated by dividing the transit users into three groups and obtaining the weighted sum.

$$m = \mu_{in} (P_f t_{in,f} + P_t t_{in,t}) + \mu_{out} (P_w t_{out,w} + P_f t_{out,f} + P_t t_{out,t})$$
(3.17)

Where,

$$t_{in,f} = \frac{d_f}{v_f} + \frac{d_f \tau_f}{s_f} + \frac{d_f}{0.5r_L + 0.5r_W} \frac{s}{2} \frac{1}{v_f}$$

$$t_{in,t} = \frac{d_t}{v_t} + \frac{d_t \tau}{s} + (0.5r_L + 0.5r_W + s)\frac{1}{2v_f} + (0.5r_L + 0.5r_W)\frac{\tau_f}{2s_f}$$

$$t_{out,w} = \frac{d_w}{v_a}$$

$$t_{out,f} = \frac{r_f}{v_a} + h_f$$

$$t_{out,f} = \frac{r_f}{v_a} + h_f + H + T + 2T_{intra}$$
(3.18)

 $t_{in,f}$ is the average in-vehicle travel time for the P_f portion of transit users. It consists of the expected cruising travel time $(\frac{d_f}{v_f})$, the average lost time due to dwelling at feeder stops $(\frac{d_f \tau_f}{s_f})$, and the average lost time due to detouring to the trunk station according to the structure of our hierarchical network. The average number of detours of length $\frac{s}{2}$ is $\frac{d_f}{0.5r_L+0.5r_W}$, so the average detouring time is $(\frac{d_f}{0.5r_L+0.5r_W}\frac{s}{2}\frac{1}{v_f})$.

 $t_{in,t}$ is the average in-vehicle travel time for the P_t portion of transit users. It consists of the expected cruising travel time in trunk system $(\frac{d_t}{v_t})$, the average lost time due to dwelling at trunk stops $(\frac{d_t\tau}{s})$, and the average time spent in feeder system in order to access trunk, including the feeder cruising time $((0.5r_L + 0.5r_W + s)\frac{1}{2v_f})$ and the feeder dwelling time $((0.5r_L + 0.5r_W + s)\frac{1}{2v_f})$.

 $t_{out,w}$ is the average out-of-vehicle travel time for the P_w portion of transit users, which is the same as the walking time for travelling expected distance d_w .

 $t_{out,f}$ and $t_{out,t}$ are the average out-of-vehicle travel times for the P_f and P_t portions of transit users respectively. Both of them have the terms of average time spent walking to and waiting for feeder transit $(\frac{r_f}{v_a} + h_f)$, while users that also use trunk transit incur an additional travel time

from waiting for trunk transit (*H*), transferring within trunk transit (*T*), and transferring between feeder and trunk transit $(2T_{intra})$.

In summary, the general formulation (3.1) is specified by (3.4) - (3.10), (3.13), (3.14), (3.15) - (3.18).

Chapter 4 Parametric Study

This chapter describes the process of employing the optimization model defined in Section 3.2 and 3.3 through a parametric study. In Section 4.1, values are assigned to the parameters in the model based on four scenarios. The results obtained after plugging these values in the optimization model are presented in Section 4.2 and Section 4.3.

4.1 Scenarios, mode attributes, cost and emissions factors

To provide insights from the idealized network described above, it is necessary to adjust the model attributes as close as possible to the attributes of real cities. Four hypothetical scenarios are employed to roughly categorize real cities with varying sizes and demand densities (Table 4.1). The scenarios are obtained from Griswold et al. (2013).

Table 4.1 City scenarios with different combinations of sizes and demand densities (Griswold et
al. 2013)

	City s (L, W)	ize (km)	Demand de (pax/kn	nsity (ρ) n²/h)
Scenario 1	Small	10	Low	100
Scenario 2	Small	10	High	200
Scenario 3	Large	40	Low	100
Scenario 4	Large	40	High	200

The user values of time for in- and out-of-vehicle travel time are \$12.5/h and \$25/h respectively, taken from California Department of Transportation (Caltrans) (2012). The critical distances d_0 and d_c are assumed to be 400 m and 4 km respectively. Mode attributes, costs and emissions factors for the trunk transit are obtained from Griswold et al. (2014), where four different trunk transit technologies (bus, BRT, LRT or metro) are considered (Table 4.2). The costs and emissions of trunk transit modes, except for bus which is generally diesel, are modeled after systems in the San Francisco Bay Area: BRT is based on the proposed design for the Geary Boulevard BRT and LRT on the Muni light rail system, metro is based on the Bay Area Rapid Transit (BART) system. For these trunk and feeder modes, the non-operational emissions estimates (infrastructure construction and maintenance, vehicle manufacture and maintenance) and operational emission sestimates are adopted from Chester and Horvath (2009) and Chester (2008), where a hybrid life-cycle-assessment model was employed and the Californian electricity mix was used. The emission factor for bus operation is taken from Taptich and Horvath (2014), and EMFAC (CARB 2014) data are also incorporated in this work to allow for more updated emissions estimates.

Param	Description	Units	Bus	BRT	LRT	Metro
v	Cruising speed	km/h	25	40	40	60
τ	Lost time/stop	sec.	30	30	30	45
Т	Lost time/transfer	sec.	20	30	30	60
C_I	ROW infrastructure cost	\$/km-h	10	36	220	260
C_V	Vehicle purchase, fuel & maintenance cost	\$/veh-km	1.0	1.6	6.0	8.9
C_M	Labor cost	\$/veh-h	150	200	200	250
C_S	Station construction cost	\$/st-h	0.82	8.2	11	130
E_I	ROW infrastructure emissions	g/km-h	8.1	160	790	44,000
E_V	Vehicle fleet manufacturing, operation & maintenance emissions	g/veh-km	1,44 5	1,900	2,700	11,000
E_S	Station construction emissions	g/st-h	170	1,700	1,700	120,000
Кар	Vehicle capacity	pax/veh	80	120	200	1000

 Table 4.2
 Trunk-mode-specific model parameters¹ (Griswold et al. 2014)

¹The EMFAC database provides emission factors for buses and are more recent than those in Chester and Horvath (2009) and Chester (2008). Thus compared with the table in Griswold et al. (2014), I update the emission factor E_V for bus from 1,700 g/veh-km to 1,445 g/veh-km, and the emission factor E_V for BRT from 2,200 g/veh to 1,900 g/veh-km.

For the feeder transit system, I consider only one mode: feeder bus (usually smaller buses or vans designed mainly for local service).

The feeder-mode cost parameters are calculated based on the parameters of regular bus for the trunk transit, since the usual feeder bus is the bus of smaller size compared to the trunk bus. We assume all the cost parameters for the feeder mode to be 80% of the corresponding values for the trunk bus, and cruising speed to be 20 km/h with dwelling time lost at each feeder stop to be 20 s (Sivakumaran et al. 2014). Emissions parameters for the feeder mode are estimated from Chester and Horvath (2009) and Chester (2008). All the parameters for the feeder mode are listed in Table 4.3.

Param	Description	Units	Feeder bus
v	Cruising speed of feeder	km/h	20
τ	Lost time/feeder stop	sec.	20
$C_{I\!,f}$	ROW infrastructure cost for feeder	\$/km-h	0
$C_{V,f}$	Feeder purchase, fuel & maintenance cost	\$/veh-km	0.8
C_M	Feeder labor cost	\$/veh-h	120
C_S	Feeder station construction cost	\$/st-h	0.66
$E_{I,f}$	ROW infrastructure emissions for feeder	g/km-h	0
$F_{}$	Feeder fleet manufacturing, operation &	a/veh km	1 360
$L_{V,f}$	maintenance emissions	g/ven-kin	1,500
$E_{S,f}$	Feeder station construction emissions	g/st-h	136
Кар	Vehicle capacity	pax/veh	60

 Table 4.3
 Feeder-mode-specific model parameters

Here I assume the right-of-way (ROW) infrastructure cost and emissions for feeder systems are all (approximately) zero because the feeder bus often operates on already-existing roads and we optimize their routes based on these exiting micro-networks. The feeder system optimization won't cause new road construction, thus those parameters are assumed to be zero.

4.2 Non-elastic case

After assigning values for the model attributes, Pareto curves showing the relationships between E and C_{total} are developed for the different scenarios, and for the four trunk technologies (bus, BRT, LRT or metro) with the feeder access. The Pareto curves for the trunk-only bus systems are also developed to compare with the hierarchical transit systems. In this section, I assume that the total transit demand is inelastic for the entire transit system, i.e., b = 0. Particularly, the transit system will be serving a constant number of transit users not matter how much the transit LOS has changed. This is a rather optimistic case because it implies that lowering the transit LOS would not motivate transit users to switch to the automobile, hence there is no incremental auto emissions, and the total emissions savings would equal to the net "gain" of the transit emissions reduction efforts.



Figure 4.1 Technology-specific Pareto curves of system costs with varying transit emissions (scenario 1)



Figure 4.2 Technology-specific Pareto curves of system costs with varying transit emissions (scenario 2)



Figure 4.3 Technology-specific Pareto curves of system costs with varying transit emissions (scenario 3)

Figure 4.4 Technology-specific Pareto curves of system costs with varying transit emissions (scenario 4)

Figure 4.1 shows the Pareto curves for optimal transit system design by different trunk technologies for a small city with low demand (scenario 1). Compared with all the hierarchical transit systems, bus with no feeder access is the lowest-cost option for all values of the GHG emissions constraint. This is because the average travel distances are short for small cities, which eliminates the relative disadvantage of low cruising speeds of buses compared with the other modes. Furthermore, the low infrastructure cost of a bus network allows for smaller stop and route spacings, alleviating the need for incorporating the feeder access. The intra-modal transfer times and feeder emissions are avoided as a consequence. Among the hierarchical transit systems, BRT is the lowest-cost option for all values of the GHG emissions constraint. However, LRT and buses have lower GHG emissions than BRT at their respective cost-optimal points. For cities similar to scenario 1 that aim to optimize only transit system costs, LRT or buses are better than BRT in reducing GHG emissions. Metro is not a competitive option in this context because its costs are higher than all the other modes for all values of the GHG emissions constraint. Moreover, metro has the highest GHG emissions at its cost-optimal point compared with all the other modes. For these hierarchical transit systems, the order of preference for the trunk technologies is consistent with the results of Griswold et al. (2013), where the feeder access is not provided. In summary, incorporating feeder access does not significantly change the comparisons between the trunk technologies for scenario 1, and the societal costs and emissions are even much higher compared with the trunk-only bus system.

With the transit demand being doubled (Figure 4.2, scenario 2), the transit agency must improve the service level to minimize the societal cost. The emissions increase for all modes due to the improved LOS, along with the increased societal costs, due to the higher demand. Nevertheless, bus with no feeder access is still the lowest-cost option for all values of the GHG emissions constraint.

As for the large cities, the average travel distances are longer, making metro more costcompetitive due to its higher cruising speed (by reducing travel time). Furthermore, incorporating the feeder access allows for larger stop and route spacings, saving the agency cost significantly by requiring a lower amount of the expensive metro infrastructure. This can be verified in Figures 4.3 and 4.4, where metro is the lowest-cost option for most values of the GHG emissions constraint. Buses are the worst choice in this context due to high costs for all values of the GHG emissions constraint. The shortcoming of buses includes low cruising speeds magnified by long average travel distances in large cities, increasing travel time significantly. Meanwhile, the low capacity of buses requires a larger fleet of buses to cover all the transit demand, which also results in a significant increase in agency cost in this large-city scenario. LRT and BRT are better than buses but less cost-competitive than metro, yet both have lower GHG emissions than metro at their respective cost-optimal points. Although the GHG emissions associated with metro are high at the cost-optimal point, these emissions can be significantly reduced without causing large additional societal costs. Take scenario 3, for example, the GHG emissions of metro can be reduced by 30% from 2051 mt GHG/yr to 1435 mt GHG/yr, with only a 2% increment in the societal cost from \$28.3 billion per year to \$28.8 billion per year. Moreover, in scenario 4, metro is the lowest-cost option for all values of the GHG emissions constraint.

It should be noted that in generating the Pareto curves of the trunk-only bus system in the large cities (scenario 3 and 4), I find that the cost-optimal point is bound by the bus capacity constraint, which means the buses are already fully loaded in order to cover all the transit demand. With the binding capacity constraint, emissions cannot be reduced any further because that is achieved through lowering the operational frequency and spatial coverage, which will result in bus overloading (the same transit demand is covered by decreased bus service). As a result, the Pareto curve is essentially limited to the cost-optimal point, which can be observed in Figures 4.3 and 4.4. For the hierarchical bus system, I find that the bus capacity constraint is also binding at the cost-optimal point in both scenarios. However, the Pareto curves are not limited to the cost-optimal points because the emissions can still be reduced from the feeder system. I also find that the capacity constraint for the feeder system is not binding because the service area for each feeder bus is small.

4.3 Elastic case

In this section, I consider the potential demand shift between transit and automobile, where some transit users may switch to automobile when the transit LOS is reduced, i.e. *b* is non-zero. To examine how the GHG emissions are affected by the changed demand due to the reductions in service, curves showing the relationships between the total GHG emissions ($E_{emissions,T}$ +

 $E_{emissions,auto}$) and total transit travel time ($T_{average}$) are developed for different trunk technologies. $E_{emissions,auto}$ denotes the marginal automobile emissions due to users switching from transit to cars.

Previous research has established a range of reasonable travel time elasticity values for transit in major U.S. cities (Griswold et al. 2014), hence the value of *b* may differ for different scenarios and trunk technologies. To account for this variability, I examine the impact of *b* between 0.0 and -1.0 on the E - T curves.

I base the elastic case on scenario 2 (small city with high demand), a hypothetical city with characteristics similar to San Francisco.

Figure 4.5 Change in total emissions with travel time as LOS is reduced for bus with no feeder access (scenario 2)

Figure 4.6 Change in total emissions with travel time as LOS is reduced for bus (scenario 2)

Figure 4.7 Change in total emissions with travel time as LOS is reduced for BRT (scenario 2)

Figure 4.8 Change in total emissions with travel time as LOS is reduced for LRT (scenario 2)

Figures 4.5 through 4.9 show the change in total GHG emissions as transit travel time is increased from the cost-optimal value for a range of travel time elasticities. The figures are each shown with the same scale on the horizontal and vertical axes to allow for visual comparison. The bottom line (b = 0) shows the results for inelastic demand, where no users will change modes when the transit travel time increases (as a result of the reduced transit LOS). The top line (b = -1) shows the results where users are most sensitive to changes in the transit travel time.

In the case of the trunk-only bus system (Figure 4.5), the elasticity values between -0.8 and -1 produce monotonically increasing emissions as the travel time increases from the cost-optimal value, implying that slight LOS reductions for a city with highly elastic transit demand would be harmful to both the transit users and the emissions. When the elasticity values are between -0.6 and -0.7, there is initially a small emissions benefit as the transit LOS is lowered. However, as the transit travel time approaches 39 min, the emissions start to increase. The elasticity values between -0.4 and -0.3 produce monotonically decreasing emissions. The elasticity values between -0.4 and -0.5 produce slight or no emissions reductions over the travel time values shown. Nevertheless, the trunk-only bus system is still competitive for both emissions and travel time, compared with all the other hierarchical transit systems in scenario 2.

The case of the hierarchical transit systems (Figures 4.6 through 4.9) shows the similar relationship between the total emissions and the travel time as in Figure 4.5. I find that, for buses, BRT and LRT, the elasticity values between -0.6 and -1 all produce increases in emissions over the travel time values shown. Thus for cities with highly elastic transit demand, transit systems with these trunk technologies should be designed near the cost-optimal points. However, greater reductions in the total GHG emissions are possible for low to moderate elasticities. In the

case of metro (Figure 4.9), the emissions reductions are possible for all the elasticity values. The reductions are especially significant as the LOS is lowered from the cost-optimal value.

In summary, since the emissions constraint is imposed on the transit systems alone, we have verified that unintended consequences (increases in the city-wide emissions as a result of LOS reductions) will occur for highly elastic transit riders or for large reductions in transit LOS. However, these consequences are less likely in the case of metro. As a result, a metro system does not need to be designed near the cost-optimal point.

The previous discussions are based on the formulation (3.1) where the emissions constraint is imposed on the transit system alone. As was shown above, this could lead to the unintended consequence of city-wide emissions increasing as we impose the transit emissions constraint.

Next, I study the elastic case based on a small city (scenario 2) emissions budget, where the emissions constraint is imposed on the entire city rather than only on the transit system, as shown in (4.1).

Figure 4.10 Change in total emissions as LOS is reduced for BRT under a city-wide emissions budget (scenario 2)

Figure 4.11 Change in total emissions as LOS is reduced for metro under a city-wide emissions budget (scenario 2)

Figures 4.10 and 4.11 show the results of this city-scale optimization for BRT and metro. The results for bus and LRT are similar to BRT and thus are not shown here. Increases in total emissions are avoided because they are constrained by E in (4.1). Compared with Figures 4.7 and 4.9, the curves are truncated at the points where it is no longer possible to reduce the total emissions. These points represent the states where further reductions in transit emissions start to be overtaken by the increases in automobile emissions. For the case of the BRT system, the reductions in total emissions are not possible for high elasticity values, which is consistent with Figure 4.7. As a result, the curves of b = -1 and b = -0.9 are negligible. For the metro system, the reductions in total emissions are possible for all the values of elasticity.

4.4 Effect of city size on emissions

In the previous section I studied the elastic case for a small city (scenario 2), and verified that for hierarchical metro systems, there exists a phase of decreasing total emissions as LOS is lowered, even for highly elastic transit demand. However, this is not necessarily true for larger cities where automobile emissions are much higher due to the longer average driving distance. To verify this conjecture, I study the metro system for a large city (scenario 4) in this section.

Figure 4.12 Change in total emissions as LOS is reduced for metro (scenario 2)

Figure 4.12 shows the relationship between the total emissions and LOS for a large city (scenario 4). Compared with Figure 4.9, it is easy to observe the difference: with high elasticity, b = -1 for example, the total emissions increase monotonically as the LOS is lowered from the cost-optimal point. The situation is similar for middle elasticity, b = -0.5 for example, where the potential reduction in total emissions is negligible. As a result, for a large city with elastic metro demand, it is not recommended to lower the metro LOS for the sake of reducing the emissions. The underlying reason is that when the city size increases, the average driving distance also increases. These longer distances lead to significantly higher auto emissions. As the metro LOS is lowered, large auto emissions are generated as transit users shift to the automobile, completely overtaking the reductions in metro emissions. Figure 4.13 shows the breakdown of the total emissions where we can see the difference between the small city and the large city scenarios.

The dominance of auto emissions for the case of a large city means that large cities should rely more on transit in order to reduce emissions. Figure 4.14 shows the two extremes, where cities with varying sizes rely either on automobile or metro to cover the entire demand. As an auto-only city expands, the emissions increase dramatically due to the longer average driving distance and larger demand. For a city that runs on transit, the emissions also increase as a higher transit frequency is required. However, transit generates much lower emissions than automobile especially for large cities.

Figure 4.14 Total emissions of city with varying size

4.5 Sensitivity Analysis

Admittedly, the mode attributes, cost and emission factors for the trunk transit and feeder transit used in this study may vary in different cities and time windows. This has the potential of shifting the Pareto curves and affecting the comparisons of transit technologies. The changed parameters may also alter the shape of the curves in Figures 4.5 through 4.11 hence affecting the discussion on elasticity. A set of sensitivity analyses has been conducted to address these concerns. The analyses help us evaluate the robustness of our conclusions to parameter uncertainties.

For example, Figure 4.15 shows the Pareto curves of metro, BRT and trunk-only bus for scenario 2 after all the parameters are changed by $\pm 30\%$. Table 4.3 shows an example of parameter changes for metro trunk in sensitivity analysis. The solid curves refer to those in Figure 4.2 where the parameters were not changed. It should be noted that $\pm 30\%$ refers to the extreme cases where all the parameter changes contribute in the same direction to the changes in costs or

emissions. In the real world, the contributions from different parameter changes often cancel out each other, and thus the Pareto curves are located between the boundaries provided in the extreme cases (Figure 4.15). It can be observed that the position of the Pareto curves is of low sensitivity to the changes in the parameters. The shifted curves may affect the comparisons of BRT, LRT and bus due to the closeness between them in Figure 4.2. However, the advantage of trunk-only bus and the inferiority of metro remains obvious as in Figure 4.2.

Param	Description	Units	-30%	-20%	-10%	0	10%	20%	30%
C_I	ROW infrastructure cost	\$/km-h	182	208	234	260	286	312	338
C_V	Vehicle purchase, fuel & maintenance cost	\$/veh-km	6.23	7.12	8.01	8.9	9.79	10.68	11.57
C_M	Labor cost	\$/veh-h	175	200	225	250	275	300	325
C_S	Station construction cost	\$/st-h	91	104	117	130	143	156	169
E_I	ROW infrastructure emissions	g/km-h	30,800	35,200	39,600	44,000	48,400	52,800	57,200
E_V	Vehicle fleet manufacturing, operation & maintenance emissions	g/veh-km	7,700	8,800	9,900	11,000	12,100	13,200	14,300
E_S	Station construction emissions	g/st-h	84,000	96,000	108,000	120,000	132,000	144,000	156,000

Table 4.4 Parameter changes for metro trunk in sensitivity analysis

Figure 4.15 Sensitivity to changes in parameters for metro, BRT and trunk-only bus (scenario 2)

Similar observations are made for scenario 1, 3 and 4. It is also observed that the changes in the parameters slightly modifies the positions of the curve clusters in Figures 4.5 through 4.11. However, the shapes of the curves remain the same. Since the discussion on elasticity is largely based on the curve shapes, it is insensitive to the parameter changes.

Chapter 5 Transit Network Stylization

In the previous chapters, I analyzed various hypothetical city scenarios and quantified the emissions saved when reducing the transit LOS. The model in those scenarios utilized an idealized rectangular grid transit network. I used continuum approximation (CA) method to minimize the societal costs subject to an emissions constraint, identifying the Pareto curve of optimal transit system design.

In reality, most current transit systems have not been optimized to achieve the lowest costs and emissions possible. Therefore, they do not necessarily fall on the Pareto curve. In this chapter, I extend the model to analyze such a transit system, the MUNI bus network for the city of San Francisco. I build a mathematical model of the MUNI bus network to obtain a relatively accurate representation of the current network. I quantify the societal costs and emissions for the current MUNI system, and where it falls relative to the Pareto curve. The potentials for emissions reductions and the changes in LOS are then discussed for the MUNI system.

As in our previous model, the continuum approximation method is employed to derive the costs and the emissions of the transit system. Since the method requires networks with simple geometric patterns, I choose a stylized network to approximate the real MUNI network. The stylization procedure is described in section 5.1. The evaluation of the stylized network is presented in section 5.2. Based on the stylized network, the optimal bus system attributes are selected, which are discussed in detail in Chapter 6.

5.1 Network stylization

Transit networks are often irregular in shapes. They are confined by the geographical layout of real cities. To use the continuum approximation method, it is necessary to stylize the complex network to the form of its closest geometric idealization. Figure 5.1 shows the network of downtown San Francisco Muni bus system in real shape (a) and after stylization (b). Note that for simplicity, only the downtown portion of the Muni network is considered.

The downtown area can be stylized as a combination of one trapezoid area and one rectangle area overlapping at an edge, Market Street. The other edges serve as the boundary of the area of interest in this case study (Table 5.1). Since the bus network in the downtown area is of grid structure ubiquitously (Figure 5.1 (a)), I define a stylized grid structure within the boundary (Figure 5.1 (b)). Within the trapezoid and rectangle, the bus routes are aligned orthogonally to maintain the grid feature. The stop spacing (s) and route spacing (r) are assumed to be the same throughout the network to filter out the complex network details.

Edge	Street Name
L	Bay Street
W_2	Van Ness Avenue
W_3	11 th Street
D	Harrison Street
\mathbf{W}_1	The Embarcadero

Table 5.1Boundary of the studied area

Admittedly, stylization may bring in some errors due to possible oversimplification of the real network. To evaluate the influence of the stylization, it is necessary to compare the costs and emissions derived from the stylized network with those of the real network. The evaluation is provided in section 5.2.

5.1.1 Derivation of the user costs

The continuum approximation method is used in the derivation of the costs and emissions from the stylized network. The method enables us to formulate costs and emissions as closed-form functions of basic system attributes. In this study, the attributes consist of i) supply-side parameters: stop spacing (*s*), route spacing (*r*), and headways (*H*); ii) demand-side parameters: demand density (ρ), value of time (μ). The detailed derivations of these costs and emissions are described below.

The cost to a transit user is measured by the time spent using the transit service. The user cost C_{user} is the sum of costs to all the transit users. The transit demand is divided into several categories to account for different O-D scenarios (Table 5.2). Similar to the previous chapters,

since the values of the time spent in- and out of transit vehicles are different (Caltrans 2014), it is necessary to derive separately the in-vehicle travel time (IVTT) and the out of vehicle travel time (OVTT). The user cost C_{user} is therefore formulated as the sum of monetized IVTT and OVTT for different categories (5.1).

$$C_{user} = \sum_{(a,b)\in G} (T_{out}(a,b)\mu_{out} + T_{in}(a,b)\mu_{in})d(a,b)$$
(5.1)

$$G \stackrel{\text{\tiny def}}{=} \{ (S_1, S_1), (S_1, S_2), (S_2, S_2), (S_1, W_2 \cup W_3 \cup D), (S_2, W_2 \cup W_3 \cup D) \}$$

 μ_{in}, μ_{out} – value of time in- and out-of transit vehicles (\$/hr·pax). $T_{in}(a, b), T_{out}(a, b)$ – Average IVTT and OVTT for the transit demand between *a* and *b*. d(a, b) – The sum of demands between *a* and b^1 .

The formula derivations for demand and travel times are described as below.

1) Transit Demand

Since I assume the transit demand is uniformly distributed among the entire region with the constant demand density ρ , the transit demand between region *a* and *b* are defined as (5.2).

$$d(a,b) = \begin{cases} \frac{2ab}{S_{\Sigma}}\rho & \text{if } a \text{ and } b \text{ are different regions} \\ \frac{a^2}{S_{\Sigma}}\rho & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(5.2)

Where,

$$(a,b) \in \{(S_1,S_1), (S_1,S_2), (S_2,S_2), (S_1,W_2 \cup W_3 \cup D), (S_2,W_2 \cup W_3 \cup D)\}$$

d(a, b) – The sum of demands between a and b

 S_{Σ} – the total area of downtown and outside of downtown

2) Out of Vehicle Travel Time (OVTT)

The out-of-vehicle travel time T_{out} consists of the average walking time to access and egress transit stops, the average waiting time, and the average transfer time. The formulas of the out-of-vehicle travel time are based on Griswold et al. (2013). Note that when $(a, b) \in \{(S_1, W_2 \cup W_3 \cup D), (S_2, W_2 \cup W_3 \cup D)\}$, only half of the walking time and waiting time occurs in downtown area, so the terms are additionally divided by 2 in (5.3).

¹ For example, $d(S_1, S_1)$ refers to the demand of which the origin and destination are both located in S_1 region. $d(S_1, W_2 \cup W_3 \cup D)$ refers to the influx and outflux demand between S_1 and outside of downtown.

$$T_{out}(a,b) = \begin{cases} (0.5r_L + 0.5r_W + s)\frac{1}{2v_a} + H + T & \text{if } (a,b) \in \{(S_1, S_1), (S_1, S_2), (S_2, S_2)\} \\ (0.5r_L + 0.5r_W + s)\frac{1}{4v_a} + \frac{H}{2} + T & \text{if } (a,b) \in \{(S_1, W_2 \cup W_3 \cup D), (S_2, W_2 \cup W_3 \cup D)\} \end{cases}$$
(5.3)

 v_a – Speed of walking (km/h)

 r_L , r_W – Route spacing for bus lines (km)

s – Stop spacing for transit stops (km)

H – Headway of transit (s)

T – Average transfer time of transit (s)

3) In Vehicle Travel Time (IVTT)

The in-vehicle travel time T_{in} consists of the average cruising time and dwelling time.

$$T_{in}(a,b) = E(a,b)\left(\frac{1}{\nu} + \frac{\tau}{s}\right)$$
(5.4)

E(a, b) – Average in-vehicle travel distance in category (a, b).

v – Cruising speed of transit (km/h)

 τ – Average dwelling time at each transit stop (s)

Since the demand is assumed to be uniformly distributed, the average in-vehicle travel distance E(a, b) is calculated as the expected distance between two random dots located in a and b with uniform probability distributions. Figure 5.2 shows an example of $E(S_1, W_3)$. The two random dots are located in the region S_1 and on the edge W_3 respectively, both with uniform probability distributions. Note that the distance between the two dots is the Manhattan distance due to the grid structure of the network.

Figure 5.2 The Manhattan distance between two random dots in region S₁ and on edge W₃

Category (<i>a</i> , <i>b</i>)	E(a,b)
(S ₁ , S ₁)	$\frac{2}{15} \left(2L + 3W_1 + 2W_2 + \frac{W_1 W_2 (2L - 7W_1 - 3W_2)}{(W_1 + W_2)^2} \right)$
(S ₁ , S ₂)	$\frac{1}{6} \left(L + D + 3W_3 + \frac{3W_1^2 + W_2^2 + 2W_1W_2}{W_1 + W_2} \right)$
(S_2, S_2)	$\frac{W_3 + D}{3}$
(S_1, W_2)	$\frac{1}{6} \left(2L + 2W_2 + \frac{W_1^3 - W_1^2 W_2 + 2W_1 W_2 L}{W_2 (W_1 + W_2)} \right)$
(S_1, W_3)	$\frac{1}{6} \left(2D + 2W_1 + 3W_3 + \frac{2DW_1 + 2W_2^2}{W_1 + W_2} \right)$
$(\boldsymbol{S_1}, \boldsymbol{D})$	$\frac{1}{6} \left(L + D + \frac{3W_1^2 + W_2^2 + 2W_1W_2}{W_1 + W_2} \right)$
(S_2, W_2)	$\frac{1}{6} \left(2L + D + W_1 + W_2 + 3W_3 + \frac{W_1(L + W_1 - D)}{W_2} \right)$
(S_2, W_3)	$\frac{D}{2} + \frac{W_3}{3}$
(S ₂ , D)	$\frac{D}{3} + \frac{W_3}{2}$
$(S_1, W_2 \cup W_3 \cup D)$	$\frac{W_2}{W_2 + W_3 + D}E(S_1, W_2) + \frac{W_3}{W_2 + W_3 + D}E(S_1, W_3) + \frac{D}{W_2 + W_3 + D}E(S_1, D)$
$(S_2, W_2 \cup W_3 \cup D)$	$\frac{W_2}{W_2 + W_3 + D}E(S_2, W_2) + \frac{W_3}{W_2 + W_3 + D}E(S_2, W_3) + \frac{D}{W_2 + W_3 + D}E(S_2, D)$

summarized in Table 5.2.

The formulas of the average in-vehicle travel distance E(a, b) for different categories are

 Table 5.2 Expected Manhattan distances for different demand categories

The formulas for demand and travel times are summarized in Table 5.3.

Category (a, b)	Demand $d(a, b)$	OVTT $T_{out}(a, b)$	IVTT $T_{in}(a, b)$		
(S_1, S_1)	$rac{S_1^2}{S_{\Sigma}} ho$	$(0.5r_L + 0.5r_W + s)\frac{1}{2v_a} + H + T$	$E(S_1, S_1)\left(\frac{1}{\nu} + \frac{\tau}{s}\right)$		
(S_1, S_2)	$\frac{2S_1S_2}{S_{\Sigma}}\rho$	$(0.5r_L + 0.5r_W + s)\frac{1}{2v_a} + H + T$	$E(S_1, S_2)\left(\frac{1}{\nu} + \frac{\tau}{s}\right)$		
(S_2, S_2)	$rac{S_2^2}{S_{\Sigma}} ho$	$(0.5r_L + 0.5r_W + s)\frac{1}{2v_a} + H + T$	$E(S_2, S_2)\left(\frac{1}{v} + \frac{\tau}{s}\right)$		
$(S_1, W_2 \cup W_3 \cup D)$	$\frac{2S_1(S_{\Sigma}-S_1-S_2)}{S_{\Sigma}}\rho$	$(0.5r_L + 0.5r_W + s)\frac{1}{4v_a} + \frac{H}{2} + T$	$E(S_1, W_2 \cup W_3 \cup D)\left(\frac{1}{v} + \frac{\tau}{s}\right)$		
$(S_2, W_2 \cup W_3 \cup D)$	$\frac{2S_2(S_{\Sigma}-S_1-S_2)}{S_{\Sigma}}\rho$	$(0.5r_L + 0.5r_W + s)\frac{1}{4v_a} + \frac{H}{2} + T$	$E(S_2, W_2 \cup W_3 \cup D)\left(\frac{1}{v} + \frac{\tau}{s}\right)$		

Table 5.3 Transit demand (d), out-of-vehicle travel time (OVTT) and in-vehicle travel time (IVTT)for different O-D scenarios

i) Category (a, b) refers to the group of the transit demand where the origin and the destination are located respectively in a and b, or b and a.

ii) S_{Σ} is the total area of downtown and outside of downtown.

iii) E(a, b) refers to the average in-vehicle travel distance in category (a, b).

5.1.2 Agency cost and transit emissions

The agency cost C_{agency} consists of the costs to construct and maintain transit infrastructure and stations, the costs to operate and maintain transit vehicles, and the cost of labor (Griswold et al 2013). For MUNI transit buses, the routes and stops costs are small compared to the vehicle and labor costs, and therefore only the latter two are considered in this paper for simplification (5.5).

$$C_{agency} = \frac{(W_1 + W_2)L + 2W_3D}{sH} \left(\frac{1}{p_W} + \frac{1}{p_L}\right) C_V + \frac{(W_1 + W_2)L + 2W_3D}{sH} \left(\frac{1}{p_W} + \frac{1}{p_L}\right) \left(\frac{1}{\nu} + \frac{\tau}{s}\right) C_M$$
(5.5)

 C_V – Vehicle purchase, fuel & maintenance cost (\$/veh·km)

 C_M – Labor cost (/veh·hr)

 p_W , p_L – Route spacing factor. They are equal to $\frac{r_W}{s}$, $\frac{r_L}{s}$ respectively.

Transit emissions $E_{transit}$ include the emissions resulting from constructing and maintaining transit infrastructure and stations, and the emissions from operating and maintaining transit

vehicles (Griswold et al 2013). For MUNI transit buses, the latter are much higher and are considered exclusively in this paper (5.6).

$$E_{transit} = \frac{(W_1 + W_2)L + 2W_3D}{sH} \left(\frac{1}{p_W} + \frac{1}{p_L}\right) E_V$$
(5.6)

 E_V – Vehicle fleet manufacturing, operation & maintenance emissions (g/veh·km)

5.2 Evaluation of the stylized network

I evaluate the costs and emissions of the stylized network by assigning values to the attributes in the formulas (5.1) through (5.6). The values assigned reflect the current state of the actual transit network and are calculated based on real transit traffic data and agency annual report (Table 5.4).

Attribute	Value
density (pax/km ² ·hr)	234
average headway (min)	12.54
average stop spacing (m)	120
average route spacing (m)	360

 Table 5.4
 Values of system attributes reflecting current state

The cost- and emission-comparisons between the continuum approximation (CA) on the stylized network and the actual data on the real network are shown in Table 5.5.

Table 5.5	Comparison	of results	obtained	by the	CA meth	nod and real dat	ta
-----------	------------	------------	----------	--------	---------	------------------	----

	Real Network	Approximation using CA	Relative Error
Total Cost (billion \$/yr)	0.304	0.300	1.3%
Transit Emissions (1000 mt GHG/yr)	5.209	4.635	11%

It can be seen from Table 5.5 that the total costs and transit emissions obtained are quite close to the actual values with around 10% relative error. Although we have neglected the complex real network details, the low relative error suggests that the proposed stylized network is a good representation of the real network regarding the cost and emission measurements. Furthermore, the closed-form expressions of the costs and emissions allow for efficient computations in the optimization described in Chapter 6.

Chapter 6 Transit Network Optimization

In Chapter 5, I used the stylized network and the continuum approximation method to represent the real network. The decision variables (H, s, r_W, r_L) were assigned fixed values reflecting the current state of the real network. In this chapter, I solve for the optimal values of these decision variables using the model formulation defined in (3.1). Particularly, the goal is to solve for the values of the decision variables that minimize the total costs subject to a MUNI bus emissions constraint.

Similar to Chapter 3 and 4, a Pareto curve for optimal bus system design for MUNI is obtained (Figure 6.1), allowing for comparison between the system's optimal and current state of operations. Furthermore, the comparison of the decision variable values provides insights regarding design and operational modifications for the purposes of cost and emission minimization (Table 6.1).

Figure 6.1 shows the current state of the network and the Pareto frontier obtained by the network optimization. As conjectured earlier, the current MUNI bus system does not lie on the Pareto frontier. The relative position of the point of the current state with respect to the Pareto frontier demonstrates the potentials for cost and emission reduction via transit network optimization. The current state of the system has higher societal costs and GHG emissions compared with those of the cost-optimal state. In this context, transit agencies may achieve simultaneously the reductions in societal costs and GHG emissions simply by bringing the system from its current state to the cost-optimal state. The tradeoffs between the costs and emissions, as described in the previous

chapters, only exists if one wants to achieve further emission reductions starting from the costoptimal state.

Route Spacing	Route Spacing	Stop Spacing	Headway	C _{total}	C_{user}	Cagency	Emissions	TT	IVTT
(N-S route) (km)	(W-E route) (km)	(km)	(min)	(B\$/yr)	(B\$/yr)	(B\$/yr)	(mt/yr)	(min)	(min)
1.03	1.03	0.51	6.08	0.15	0.121	0.032	1680	15.3	7.0
1.10	1.10	0.55	7.16	0.16	0.130	0.025	1330	16.0	6.9
1.36	1.36	0.45	7.85	0.16	0.141	0.020	980	17.3	7.3
1.45	1.45	0.48	8.87	0.17	0.149	0.016	820	18.0	7.1
1.52	1.52	0.51	9.65	0.17	0.156	0.014	710	18.6	7.0
1.70	1.70	0.43	9.89	0.18	0.163	0.013	620	19.5	7.4
1.76	1.76	0.44	10.49	0.18	0.168	0.011	570	19.9	7.3
1.74	2.17	0.43	11.65	0.19	0.180	0.009	460	21.2	7.4
1.74	2.17	0.43	11.65	0.19	0.180	0.009	460	21.2	7.4
1.66	2.50	0.42	12.19	0.20	0.187	0.009	430	21.9	7.5

 Table 6.1 Attributes for the network on the Pareto Frontier

 Table 6.2 Comparisons between the current state and the cost-optimal state

Attributes	Current State	Cost-optimal State
Route Spacing (N-S route) (km)	0.36	1.03
Route Spacing (W-E route) (km)	0.12	1.03
Stop Spacing (km)	0.12	0.51
Headway (min)	12.5	6.1
C _{total} (billion \$/yr)	0.30	0.15
C _{user} (billion \$/yr)	0.152	0.121
C _{agency} (billion \$/yr)	0.148	0.032
Emissions (mt/yr)	4640	1680

I compare the current state with the cost-optimal point on the Pareto frontier (Table 6.2). It is observed that significant reductions in total cost and emission may be achieved simultaneously by increasing route and stop spacing and decreasing headway. Therefore, a bus service plan with lower spatial availability but higher temporal availability may be more favorable. This suggests that there may be benefits to decreasing local bus service and providing more frequent express bus service. For a small city like San Francisco, the average walking distance is small. Local bus service (with small stop spacing) may cause unnecessary user cost by stopping too often. By increasing walking distance, which increases walking time, an express bus service (with large stop spacing) saves users' IVTT significantly by stopping less frequently. Furthermore, the reduced headway saves users' average waiting time at transit stops. As a result, we can observe that the cost-optimal state has lower user cost than the current state, as shown in Table 6.2. The overall transit LOS was not reduced. In fact, the cost-optimal state was found to have a higher transit LOS than the current state, as can be seen in the comparisons of the user costs in Table

6.2. In this case, transit agencies may not need to worry about the unintended consequences due to the potential demand shift.

Chapter 7 Conclusion

Quantifying the potential tradeoffs between level of service and emissions can help transit agencies select the trunk transit technology and optimal network attributes for hierarchical transit grid systems. In this dissertation, I have developed an analytical model for hierarchical transit systems, and researched the economic and environmental competitiveness of different transit technologies in various city scenarios. The demand elasticity between transit and automobile, the demand split between transit and walking, and the demand split within the transit system have also been incorporated in the model. Compared to previous studies (Griswold et al. 2013, Chester and Horvath 2009, Chester et al. 2010, Sivakumaran et al. 2014), this study incorporated demand elasticity and the transit hierarchy simultaneously when assessing costs and emissions, providing a more complete picture that can better assist transit agencies in designing and operating transit systems.

7.1 Results

The analysis in this dissertation shows that, in small cities, trunk-only bus systems are more costand emission-competitive than hierarchical transit systems. On the other hand, in large cities, both societal costs and emissions reductions can be achieved by deploying hierarchical transit systems with mass transit modes such as metro as the trunk technology. These results are different from earlier findings in the literature (Griswold et al. 2013), which were based on analyses of trunk-only transit systems.

The results show that incorporating a feeder system not only increases the relative competitiveness of capital-intensive transit technology with respect to total costs, which had been already demonstrated in Sivakumaran et al (2014), but also emissions. The analysis also shows that, for cities that have metro as the trunk mode, it is not necessary to design or operate the system near the cost-optimal point as significant emission reductions are possible, without incurring large additional societal cost relative to the optimal cost. The sensitivity analysis shows that these findings regarding modes comparisons are robust to variations in the costs and emissions parameters.

Transit demand elasticity offsets transit emissions reduction efforts by causing additional automobile emissions due to demand shifting away from transit. For metro, there exists a phase of decreasing total emissions as the LOS is lowered even for highly elastic transit demand. However, when transit demand is highly elastic for bus, BRT or LRT, reducing LOS will cause a net increase in city-wide emissions. These findings suggest that some cities may benefit from lowering transit LOS while others may not, depending on their trunk transit technology and transit demand elasticity. The size of the city also matters when making such decisions: for a large city, it is not recommended to reduce the LOS of metro if the demand is highly elastic.

Imposing an emissions budget on the entire city instead of the individual agencies is a safer course of action to avoid unintended emission backfire and achieve emissions reductions. However, transit demand elasticity is a key factor in determining the magnitude of such

reduction potentials. In light of this, agencies should make a thorough investigation of transit demand composition (i.e., the fractions of captive and non-captive users) and flexibility before any LOS-emissions policy is passed.

In reality, it is possible for many transit systems to reduce GHG emissions without sacrificing transit LOS because many of them are not yet efficiently designed to operate at the cost-optimal point. In this situation, Pareto-improving solutions are possible. The work presented in Chapter 5 and 6 demonstrated such a transit system, the MUNI bus network for the city of San Francisco. By optimizing the system's design and operation to minimize societal costs, GHG emissions are significantly reduced.

This may be an encouraging message for many current transit agencies that are improving transit systems to achieve minimum costs. General concerns regarding transportation cost minimizations often includes potential negative environmental impacts. The findings in this study suggest that this is not necessarily true for current transit systems. Urban transit systems that minimize societal costs may also reduce GHG emissions.

My analysis shows that the cost-optimal state of the MUNI bus system has lower spatially availability but higher temporal availability than the current system. This suggests the potential benefits of decreasing local bus service and providing more frequent express bus service. The overall transit LOS was not reduced. In fact, the cost-optimal state was found to have a higher transit LOS than the current state.

7.2 Limitations and Future Work

It is worthwhile to note that there are limitations in this research that might have hindered more insights in the problem. The transit demand in this study has been assumed to be distributed uniformly throughout the entire city. This might be close to reality when cities are small or we are solely analyzing small regions such as downtown areas. Yet for larger cities, a non-uniform demand distribution should be more realistic. Future work may address this issue by introducing various layers or spikes of transit demand to simulate downtown areas and large trans-mode stations.

Four different trunk transit technologies are considered in this study. They are all assumed to be accessed by walking and feeder buses. In the real world, there are usually many more combinations of transit modes for completing daily travels. As a result, another extension of this study would be to include more potential transit mode combinations in the hierarchical transit system design. For example, many cities have both metro and buses as trunk transit in highly demanded regions. Transit users may have their own preferences when deciding which transit to take. Furthermore, the transit system design need not be "transit-exclusive" since transit users may consider non-transit modes for parts of their trips, such as the situation where people drive to the nearest metro stations. A more macroscopic transit design scheme with more balanced views of urban transportation compositions should benefit the society in the long term.

The latter part of the research has utilized a stylized grid transit network for the case study. Even though the network has been evaluated to be a good representation of the real network regarding the cost and emission estimations, there are other concerns that might be of importance in future works. For example, cities that have ring and radial transit networks, such as Chicago and Paris, may require a different set of stylization procedures before applying the continuum approximation method. In this context, the Cartesian coordinate system needs to be replaced by the polar coordinate system. In the situations where cities have even more complex network structures, the stylization procedures should be done on a case by case basis.

References

Alam, A. Hatzopoulou, M. (2014). Reducing transit bus emissions: Alternative fuels or traffic operations? Atmospheric Environment, Volume 89, p. 129-139.

Ally J. and Pryor T. (2007). Life-cycle assessment of diesel, natural gas and hydrogen fuel cell bus transportation systems. Journal of Power Sources, vol. 170, no. 2, pp. 401–411, 2007.

American Public Transportation Association (APTA) 2013 Public Transportation Fact Book 2013. http://www.apta.com/resources/statistics/Documents/FactBook/2013-APTA-Fact-Book.pdf Accessed 16 Jan 2016

Baaj, M. H. and Mahmassani, H. S. (1995). Hybrid Route Generation Heuristic Algorithm for The Design of Transit Networks, Transportation Research, vol. 3(1), pp. 31-50, 1995.

Beer, T., Grant, T., Williams, D. and Watson, H. (2002). Fuel-Cycle Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Alternative Fuels in Australian Heavy Vehicles. Atmos. Environ., 36: 753–763.

Brinkman, N., M. Wang, T. Weber, and T. Darlington, "Well-to-Wheels Analysis of Advanced Fuel/Vehicle Systems — A North American Study of Energy Use, Greenhouse Gas Emissions, and Criteria Pollutant Emissions" 2005. http://www1.eere.energy.gov/bioenergy/pdfs/well to wheels analysis.pdf Accessed 10 April 2015

Byrne, B.F. (1975). Public Transportation Line Positions and Headways for Minimum User and System Cost in a Radial Case. Transportation Research 9(2-3): 97-102.

California Air Resources Board (CARB). (2014). EMFAC Emissions Database. http://www.arb.ca.gov/emfac/ Accessed 1 July 2015

California Assembly Bill No. 1358, Chapter 657. An act to amend Sections 65040.2 and 65302 of the Government Code, relating to planning. 2008. Online <u>http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/pub/07-08/bill/asm/ab_1351-1400/ab_1358_bill_20080930_chaptered.pdf</u> Accessed 16 May 2015

California Department of Transportation (Caltrans). 2012. Life-cycle benefit-cost analysis economic parameters 2012. Online <u>www.dot.ca.gov/hq/tpp/offices/eab/benefit_cost/LCBCA-</u> economic_parameters.html_Accessed 16 May 2015

California Senate Bill No. 743. Environmental quality: transit oriented infill projects, judicial review streamlining for environmental leadership development projects, and entertainment and sports center in the City of Sacramento. 2013. Online

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill_id=201320140SB743_Accessed 1 May 2015

Chakroborty, P. "Genetic Algorithms for Optimal Urban Transit Network Design." Journal of

Computer Aided Civil and Infrastructure Engineering 18, (2003): 184-200.

Chester, M.V. (2008). "Life-cycle environmental inventory of passenger transportation modes in the United States" PhD Dissertation University of California, Berkeley, CA, Online: http://repositories.cdlib.org/its/ds/UCB-ITS-DS-2008-1/. Accessed 7 Feb 2015

Chester, M.V. and A. Horvath (2009). "Environmental assessment of passenger transportation should include infrastructure and supply chains." Environmental Research Letters 4(2).

Chien, Steven I-Jy, Dimitrijevic, Branislav V., and Spasovic, Lazar N. (2003) Optimization of Bus Route Planning in Urban Commuter Networks. Journal of Public Transportation. Volume 6, No. 1, 2003

Chien, S., J. Byun and A. Bladikas (2010). Optimal stop spacing and headway of congested transit system considering realistic wait times. Transportation Planning and Technology 33(6): 495-513.

Clark, N. N., Zhen, F., Wayne, W. S., & Lyons, D. W. (2007). Transit Bus Life Cycle Cost and Year 2007 Emissions Estimation. Federal Transit Administration.

Cui, S.H., Hongbin Niu, Wei Wang, Guoqin Zhang, Lijie Gao & Jianyi Lin (2010). Carbon footprint analysis of the Bus Rapid Transit (BRT) system: a case study of Xiamen City, International Journal of Sustainable Development & World Ecology, 17:4, 329-337

Curtin, K. and Biba, S. (2011). The Transit Route Arc-Node Service Maximization problem. European Journal of Operational Research, 10.1016/j.ejor.2010.07.026, 46-56.

Daganzo, C. (2010). Structure of competitive transit networks. Transportation Research Part B, 44(4), 434-446.

Daganzo, C. (2012). On the design of public infrastructure systems with elastic demand Transp. Res. B 46 1288–93

Davis, T. and M. Hale (2007). Public Transportation's Contribution to Greenhouse Gas Reduction, Technical Report prepared by Science Applications International Corporation, McLean, VA, for the American Transportation Association: 43 pp, online http://www.apta.com/resources/reportsandpublications/Documents/climate_change.pdf

Davis, S., Diegel, S., & Boundy, R. (2009). Transportation Energy Data Book, Ed.28. Oak Ridge, Tennessee: Oak Ridge National Laboratory ORNL-6984.

Dessouky, M., M. Rahimi and M. Weidner (2003). Jointly optimizing cost, service, and environmental performance in demand-responsive transit scheduling. Transportation Research Part D-Transport and Environment 8(6): 433-465.

Diana, M., L. Quadrifoglio and C. Pronello (2007). Emissions of demand responsive services as an alternative to conventional transit systems. Transportation Research Part D-Transport and Environment 12(3): 183-188.

Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) (2014). Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: 1990-2012 (EPA Publication No. 430-R-14-003). Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.

Estrada, M., M. Roca-Riu, H. Badia, F. Robuste and C. Daganzo (2011). Design and Implementation of Efficient Transit Networks: Procedure, Case Study and Validity Test. Transportation Research Part A, 45(9), 935-950.

Faiz A., Weaver, C. S., Walsh, M. P. (1996). Air Pollution from Motor Vehicles: standards and technologies for controlling emission, 250 pp., World Bank, Washington, USA.

Fan, L., Mumford, C.L., Evans, D. (2009). A simple multi-objective optimization algorithm for the urban transit routing problem, in: IEEE Congress on Evolutionary Computation, (CEC 2009), pp. 1–7.

Fan, L., Mumford, C.L., "A metaheuristic approach to the urban transit routing problem," Journal of Heuristics, vol. 16, no. 3, pp. 353–372, 2010.

Fan, W. (2004) Optimal transit route network design problem: Algorithms, implementations, and numerical results, PhD thesis, University of Texas, Austin.

Fan, W and Machemehl, R. B. (2006). Optimal transit route network design problem with variable transit demand: genetic algorithm approach. Journal of Transportation Engineering, vol. 132, no. 1, pp. 40–51, 2006.

Fan, W and Machemehl, R. B., and Lownes, Nicholas E. Some Computational Insights on the Optimal Bus Transit Route Network Design Problem. Journal of the Transportation Research Forum, Vol. 47, No. 3 (Public Transit Special Issue 2008), pp. 61-75

Fan, W. and R.B. Machemehl. "Using a Simulated Annealing Algorithm to Solve the Transit Route Network Design Problem." Journal of Transportation Engineering 132(2), (2006b): 122-132.

Federal Transit Administration (FTA) 2010 Public Transportation's Role in Responding to Climate Change.

http://www.fta.dot.gov/documents/PublicTransportationsRoleInRespondingToClimateChange2010.pdf Accessed 15 Jan 2016

Fu, L., Q. Liu, and P. Calamai. (2003). Real-Time Optimization Model for Dynamic Scheduling of Transit Operations, Transportation Research Record, 1857, 48-55.

Gallivan, F. and M. Grant (2010). "Current Practices in Greenhouse Gas Emissions Savings from Transit", Transit Cooperative Research Program (TCRP) Synthesis 84, Transportation Research Board, National Research Council, Washington, D.C., 85 pp.

Griswold, J.B., Madanat, S., Horvath, A. (2013). Tradeoffs between Costs and Greenhouse Gas Emissions in the Design of Urban Transit Systems. Environmental Research Letter 8(2013).

Griswold, J.B., Cheng, H., Madanat, S., Horvath, A. (2014). Unintended greenhouse gas consequences of lowering level of service in urban transit systems. Environmental Research Letter 9(2014).

Griswold, J.B., Sztainer, T., Madanat, S., Horvath, A. Optimizing urban transit network design can lead to greenhouse gas emissions reduction. Submitted for possible publication to Environmental Research Letter.

Hallmark S L, Wang B and Sperry R 2013 Comparison of on road emissions for hybrid and regular transit buses. Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association. 63 1212-1220

Hesterberg, TW, Lapin, CA, Bunn, WB. (2008). A comparison of emissions from vehicles fueled with diesel or compressed natural gas. Environ Sci Technol. 2008 Sep 1. 42(17):6437-45

Hodges, T. Public Transportation's Role in Responding to Climate Change. Federal Transit Administration. DIANE Publishing, 2009, online <u>http://www.fta.dot.gov/documents/PublicTransportationsRoleInRespondingToClimateChange2010.pdf</u> Accessed 15 March 2015.

Israeli, Y. and Ceder, A. (1989).Designing Transit Routes at the Network Level. In: IEEE Vehicle Navigation and Information Systems Conference, pp. 310-316, 1989.

John, M. P., Mumford, C. L. and Lewis, R. 2014. An improved multi-objective algorithm for the urban transit routing problem. Lecture Notes in Computer Science 8600, pp. 49-60.

Karman, D. (2006). Life-cycle analysis of GHG emissions for CNG and diesel buses in Beijing. In Proceedings of IEEE EIC Climate Change Technology Conference (EICCCC '06), pp. 1–6, May 2006.

Kidwai, F.A., Marwah, B.R., Deb, K., & Karim, M.R. (2005). A Genetic Algorithm Based Bus Scheduling Model for Transit Network. Proceeding of the Eastern Asia Society for Transportation Studies, 5, pp. 477-489. Bangkok, Thailand.

Kuah, G.K. and J. Perl (1988). Optimization of Feeder Bus Routes and Bus-Stop Spacing. Journal of Transportation Engineering-Asce 114(3): 341-354.

Lau, J., M. Hatzopoulou, M. Wahba, E.J. Miller. 2011. An integrated multi-model evaluation of transit bus emissions in Toronto. Transportation Research Record, No. 2216, pp. 1-9.

Li, J.Quan, Gupta, S. D, Zhang, L., Zhou, K., Zhang, W.-B. (2012) Evaluate bus emissions generated near far-side and near-side stops and potential reductions by ITS: An empirical study. Transportation Research Part D: Transport and Environment, 17 (2), 73-77, 2012.

Mandl, C. E. (1980). Evaluation and Optimization of Urban Public Transport Networks, European Journal of Operational Research, vol. 5, pp. 396-404, 1980.

Newell, G.F. (1979). Some Issues Relating to the Optimal Design of Bus Routes. Transportation Science 13(1): 20.

Nylund, N.K., K. Erkkila, M. Lappi, and M. Ikonen. (2004). Transit Bus Emission Study: Comparison of Emissions from Diesel and Natural Gas Buses. Helsinki, Finland: VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland. <u>http://www.cti2000.it/Bionett/BioG-2004-001%20Transit%20Bus%20Emission%20Study.pdf</u> Accessed 15 Feb 2015

Parajuli, P.M. and S.C. Wirasinghe (2001). Line haul interstation spacing for low cost feeder modes. Transportation Planning and Technology 24(4): 309-348.

Pattnaik, S. B., Mohan, S., and Tom, V. M. (1998). Urban bus transit network design using genetic algorithm. Journal of Transportation Engineering 124, 4: 368–375.

Prucz, J.C., N.N. Clark, M. Gautam, and D.W. Lyons. (2001). Exhaust emissions from engines of the Detroit diesel corporation in transit buses: a decade of trends. Environmental Science Technology 35(9): 1755-1764.

Puchalsky, C., 2005. Comparison of Emissions from Light Rail Transit and Bus Rapid Transit. Transp. Res. Rec.: J. Transp. Res. Board 1927: 31-37.

Rondinelli, D.A. & Berry, M.A. (2000). Environmental citizenship in multinational corporations: Social responsibility and sustainable development. European Management Journal, 18(1), 70-84.

Saka, A.A. (2003). Effect of Bus-Stop Spacing on Mobile Emissions in Urban Areas, Technical Report by National Transportation Research Center, Morgan State University, Baltimore, MD, 36 pp, online http://www.morgan.edu/Documents/schools/SOE/ntc/Effect_Saka_0203.pdf

San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency (SFMTA) 2007 Short Range Transit Plan for Fiscal Year 2008: Chapter 7. <u>http://archives.sfmta.com/cms/rsrtp/documents/12Chapter7-</u> FleetPlan31accessibleFY08PublicDraftforMTAB10-2fm.pdf Accessed 18 Jan 2016

San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency (SFMTA) 2013 Audit Report and Financial Statements Fiscal Year 2012-2013. <u>https://www.sfmta.com/sites/default/files/agendaitems/12-3-13%20Item%2015%20FY12-13%20Audited%20Financial%20Statements%20presentation_0.pdf</u> Accessed 10 Jan 2016 San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency (SFMTA) 2015 Muni Trolley (Electric) Coaches. <u>https://www.sfmta.com/about-sfmta/our-history-and-fleet/sfmta-fleet/muni-trolley-electric-coaches</u> Accessed 2 Feb 2016

San Francisco Municipal Transportation Agency (SFMTA) 2016 Muni System Map. <u>https://www.sfmta.com/sites/default/files/maps/2016/SFMTA-Metro-Sept2015-RTP-Outln.pdf</u> Accessed 3 Feb 2016

Sheehan, J., Camobreco, V., Duffield, J., Graboski, M., and Shapouri, H. 1998. Life cycle inventory of biodiesel and petroleum diesel for use in an urban bus. National Renewable Energy Laboratory, NREL/SR-580-24089

Shorter, J.H.; Herndon, S.H.; Zahniser, M.S.; Nelson, D.D.; Wormhoudt, J.; Demerjian, K.L.; Kolb, C.E. Real-Time Measurements of Nitrogen Oxide Emissions from In-Use New York City Transit Buses Using a Chase Vehicle; Environ. Sci. Technol. 2005, 39, 7991-8000.

Shrestha, R.M. & Zolnik, E.J. (2013). "Eliminating Bus Stops: Evaluating Changes in Operations, Emissions and Coverage", Journal of Public Transportation, Vol. 16, No. 2, pp 153-175.

Shrivastava, P. and O'Mahony, M. (2006). A model for development of optimized feeder routes and coordinated schedules: a genetic algorithms approach. Transport Policy, vol. 13, no. 5, pp. 413–425, 2006.

Shrivastava, P. and O'Mahony, M. (2007). Design of feeder route network using combined genetic algorithm and specialized repair heuristic. Journal of Public Transportation, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 99–123, 2007.

Sivakumaran, K., Li, Y., M. Cassidy, and S. Madanat (2014). "Access and the Choice of Transit Technology". Transportation Research Part A-Policy and Practice 59(2014): 204-221.

Small, Kenneth A. "Reducing Transit-Bus Emissions: Comparative Costs and Benefits of Methanol, Particulate Traps, and Fuel Modification." Transportation Research Record, 1164 (1988), pp. 15-22.

Taptich, M. and Horvath, A. (2014). Bias of Averages in Life-Cycle Footprinting of Infrastructure: Truck and Bus Case Studies. Environmental Science & Technology, 10.1021/es503356c, 13045-13052.

Tirachini, A., D.A. Hensher and S.R. Jara-Díaz (2010). Comparing operator and users costs of light rail, heavy rail and bus rapid transit over a radial public transport network. Research in Transportation Economics 29(1): 231-242.

Tong, H.Y., W.T. Hung & C.S. Cheung (2000) On-Road Motor Vehicle Emissions and Fuel Consumption in Urban Driving Conditions, Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association, 50:4, 543-554. Turrio-Baldassarri L, Battistelli CL, Conti L, Crebelli R, De Berardis B, Iamiceli AL, Gambino M and Iannaccone S: Emission comparison of urban bus engine fueled with diesel oil and 'biodiesel' blend. Sci Total Environ 2004, 327:147-62.

Vincent, W. and LC Jerram, 2006. The Potential for Bus Rapid Transit to Reduce Transportation-Related CO2 Emissions. J. Public Transp. Special BRT Edition: 219-237.

Wayne, W.S., N.N. Clark, A.B.M.S. Khan, M. Gautam, G.J. Thompson, and D.W. Lyons. (2008). Regulated and non-regulated emissions and fuel economy from conventional diesel, hybrid-electric diesel and natural gas transit buses. Journal of the Transportation Research Forum, Vol. 47, No. 3, October, pp. 105-126.

Wayne, W.S., N. N. Clark, R. D. Nine, D. Elefante. (2004). A comparison of emissions and fuel economy from hybrid-electric and conventional-drive transit buses, Energy and Fuels 18 (2004) 257–270.

Weigel, B.A., Southworth, F., & Meyer, M.D. (2010). Calculators to Estimate Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Public Transit Vehicles. Transportation Research Record, Vol. 2143, pp. 125-133.

Zhai, H., H.C. Frey and N.M. Rouphail, "A Vehicle Specific Power Approach to Speed- and Facility-Specific Emissions Estimates for Diesel Transit Buses", Environmental Science & Technology, 2008, 42(21):7985–7991.

Zhao, F., Zeng, X., 2008. Optimization of transit route network, vehicle headways and timetables for large-scale transit networks. European Journal of Operation Research 186 (2), 841–855.1

Appendix A Expected travel distance in a rectangular city

We assume that the demand is evenly distributed in a rectangular city with length *L* and width *W*. The origins and destinations for transit users can be represented by coordinate pairs (x_0, y_0) , (x_D, y_D) . x_0 and x_D are assumed to be uniformly distributed between 0 and *L*, y_0 and y_D are assumed to be uniformly distributed between 0 and *W*. The trip distance $Z = |x_D - x_0| + |y_D - y_0|$ has the following probability density function $f_Z(z)$ (Fairthorne 1965):

$$f_{Z}(z) = \begin{cases} \frac{2z}{3L^{2}W^{2}} (6LW - 3z(L+W) + z^{2}) & \text{for } 0 \le z \le W \\ \frac{2}{3L^{2}} (3L+W - 3z) & \text{for } W \le z \le L \\ \frac{2}{3L^{2}W^{2}} (L+W - z)^{3} & \text{for } L \le z \le W + L \end{cases}$$

Sivakumaran et al. (2014) have derived the formulas for calculating the expected travel distance considering the critical distance, d_c , which splits the demand between the trunk transit and the feeder transit. This study extends their considerations by incorporating another critical distance, d_0 , under which the users will choose to walk. The conditional expectations in (3.16) are defined as below:

$$d_{w} = E(Z|Z \le d_{0}) = \frac{\int_{0}^{d_{0}} tf_{Z}(t) dt}{\int_{0}^{d_{0}} f_{Z}(t) dt}$$
$$d_{f} = E(Z|d_{0} < Z \le d_{c}) = \frac{\int_{d_{0}}^{d_{c}} tf_{Z}(t) dt}{\int_{d_{0}}^{d_{c}} f_{Z}(t) dt}$$
$$d_{t} = E(Z|Z > d_{c}) = \frac{\int_{d_{c}}^{L+W} tf_{Z}(t) dt}{\int_{d_{c}}^{L+W} f_{Z}(t) dt}$$

It is reasonable to assume that $d_0 \leq W$. By evaluating the integrals above, we get the following expressions:

$$d_w = \frac{d_0(40LW - 15Ld_0 - 15Wd_0 + 4d_0^2)}{5(12LW - 4Ld_0 - 4Wd_0 + d_0^2)}$$

 d_f

$$= \begin{cases} \frac{40LW(d_0^2 + d_0d_c + d_c^2) - 15(L + W)(d_0^3 + d_0^2d_c + d_0d_c^2 + d_o^3) + 4(d_0^4 + d_0^3d_c + d_0^2d_c^2 + d_0d_c^3 + d_c^4)}{5(12LW(d_0 + d_c) - 4(L + W)(d_0^2 + d_0d_c + d_c^2) + d_0^3 + d_0^2d_c + d_0d_c^2 + d_0^3)} & for \ 0 \le z \le W \\ \frac{5LW(W^3 - 6Wd_c^2 + 8d_0^3) - 15(L + W)d_0^4 + W^5 - 10W^3d_c^2 + 20W^2d_c^3 + 4d_0^5}{5(4LW(W^2 - 3Wd_c + 3d_0^2) - 4(L + W)d_0^3 + W^4 - 4W^3d_c + 6W^2d_c^2 + d_0^4)} & for \ W \le z \le L \\ \frac{5LW(L^3 + W^3 - 6(L + W)d_c^2 + 8(d_0^3 + d_c^3)) + L^5 + W^5 - 10d_c^2(L^3 + W^3 + 2d_c(L^2 + W^2)) - 15(d_0^4 + d_c^4)(L + W) + 4(d_0^5 + d_c^5)}{5(4LW(L^2 + W^2 - 3(L + W)d_c + 3d_0^2 + 3d_c^2) + L^4 + W^4 - 4(L^3 + W^3)d_c + 6(L^2 + W^2)d_c^2 - 4(L + W)(d_0^3 + d_c^3) + d_0^4 + d_c^4)} & for \ L \le z \le W + L \end{cases}$$

56

$$d_{t} = \begin{cases} \frac{2L^{3}W^{2} + 2L^{2}W^{3} - 8LWd_{c}^{3} + 3(L+W)d_{c}^{4} - 4/5d_{c}^{5}}{6L^{2}W^{2} - 12LWd_{c}^{2} + 4(L+W)d_{c}^{3} - d_{c}^{4}} & for \ 0 \leq z \leq W\\ \frac{10L^{3} + 10L^{2}W + 5LW^{2} - 30Ld_{c}^{2} + W^{3} - 10Wd_{c}^{2} + 20d_{c}^{3}}{15W^{2} + 20Wd_{c} - 60LW - 30d_{c}^{2} + 60Ld_{c}} & for \ W \leq z \leq L\\ \frac{1}{5}(L+W+4d_{c}) & for \ L \leq z \leq W+L \end{cases}$$

_

Appendix B Attributes, cost and emission parameters used in the MUNI system analysis

The values for the network attributes, cost and emission parameters of the MUNI bus system are shown in Table B.1.

Param	Description	Units	Value	Note
L	Bay Street	km	2.52	
D	Harrison Street	km	3.13	
W_1	The Embarcadero	km	1.41	
W_2	Van Ness Avenue	km	3.27	
W_3	11 th Street	km	0.78	
ρ	Demand density	pax/km ² -hr	234	See subsection 1)
v_a	Speed of walking	km/h	5	Griswold et al. (2013)
ν	Cruising speed	km/h	13	Griswold et al. (2013)
τ	Lost time/stop	sec.	30	Griswold et al. (2013)
Т	Lost time/transfer	sec.	20	Griswold et al. (2013)
C_V	Vehicle purchase, fuel & maintenance cost	\$/veh-km	4.88	See subsection 2)
C_M	Labor cost	\$/veh-h	187	See subsection 2)
E_V	Vehicle fleet manufacturing, operation & maintenance emissions	g/veh-km	796	See subsection 3)

 Table B.1
 Network attributes, costs and emissions parameters of the MUNI bus system

1) Demand density (ρ)

The average daily ridership for MUNI is approximately 679800 pax. The entire area of San Francisco (S_{Σ}) is 121km². As a result, the demand density can be calculated as below.

$$\rho = \frac{67800 \text{ pax/day}}{24 \text{ hr/day} \times 121 \text{ km}^2} = 234 \text{ pax/km}^2 \cdot \text{hr}$$

2) Vehicle purchase, fuel and maintenance cost (C_V) , Labor cost (C_M)

The cost parameters C_V and C_M are calculated based on the data from SFMTA (2013). Table B.2 shows the annual expenses for the MUNI bus system in fiscal year 2012-2013.

	-	• • •	
_	Operating Expenses	(\$ in thousands)	
_	Personnel services	529,607	
	Contractual services	48,783	
	Materials and supplies	78,346	
	Depreciation and	118,350	
	amortization		

 Table B.2
 Expenses for the MUNI bus system in fiscal year 2012-2013 (SFMTA 2013)

In this study, the sum of personal services and contractual services is considered as labor costs, materials and supplies refer to fuel and maintenance cost, depreciation and amortization are related to vehicle purchase cost. As a result, the vehicle purchase, fuel and maintenance cost per year for MUNI system is 118,350,000 + 78,346,000 = 196,696,000/year.

The total passenger miles of MUNI system in the year 2011 is approximately 451,070,000 paxmiles (APTA 2013). The average occupancy on bus is 18 pax/veh (APTA 2013). The vehiclemiles-traveled (VMT) per year for MUNI can thus be calculated.

$$VMT = \frac{451070000 \text{ pax} \cdot \text{mile}}{18 \text{ pax/veh}} \approx 25059444 \text{ veh} \cdot \text{mile}$$

The parameter C_V can be obtained as below.

$$C_V = \frac{\$196696000}{25059444 \text{ veh} \cdot \text{mile} \times 1.609 \text{ km/mile}} \approx \$4.88/\text{veh} \cdot \text{km}$$

The labor cost for MUNI system is 529,607,000 + 48,783,000 = 578,390,000/year. The total vehicle-hour-traveled (VHT) per year for MUNI can be calculated by dividing the VMT by the cruising speed v.

$$VHT = \frac{25059444 \text{ veh} \cdot \text{mile}}{8.1 \text{ mile/hr}} \approx 3093759 \text{ veh} \cdot \text{hr}$$

The parameter C_M can be obtained as below.

$$C_M = \frac{\$578390000}{3093759 \text{ veh} \cdot \text{hr}} \approx \$187/\text{veh} \cdot \text{hr}$$

3) Vehicle fleet manufacturing, operation and maintenance emissions (E_v) The current fleet of the Muni system is summarized in Table B.3.

Bus type	Quantity
Diesel buses	253
Diesel-electric hybrid buses	258
Trolley buses	333
Light-rail vehicles	149
Historic streetcars	50
Cable cars	40

Table B.3 Fleet of the Muni system (SFMTA 2007)

San Francisco's trolley coaches (as well as its streetcars and the cable motors for the cable cars) are almost entirely pollution-free, since their electric power comes from the city's hydroelectric Hetch Hetchy Water and Power Project (SFMTA 2015). Therefore, the operating emission rate for trolley buses, streetcars and cable cars should be treated as zero in this study since the electricity is 100% hydroelectric. Based on Hallmark et al. (2013), we assume the vehicle manufacturing emission rate (258 g/veh-mi) and maintenance emission rate (45 g/veh-mi) are the same among all buses and the operating emission rate of the hybrid buses is about 37% lower

III TUOIC D					
	Table B.4	Emission rates of dif	ferent types of buse	S	
	Manufacturing	Maintenance	Operating	Total emission	
	emission rate (g/veh-	emission rate	emission rate	rate (g/veh-	Quantity
	mile)	(g/veh-mile)	(g/veh-mile)	mile)	
Diesel buses	258	45	2400	2703	253
Hybrid buses	258	45	1752	2055	258
Other buses	258	45	0	303	572

than that of diesel buses in MUNI. The emission rates of different types of buses are summarized in Table B.4.

As a result, the average fleet emission rate is:

$$E_v = \frac{253 \times 2703 + 258 \times 2055 + 572 \times 303}{253 + 258 + 572} \approx 1281 \text{g/veh} \cdot \text{mile} \approx 796 \text{g/veh} \cdot \text{km}$$